REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC AC COUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statésneh Advanced Info Service Public
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Grougid the separate financial statements
of Advanced Info Service Public Company Limitede(ttCompany”) which comprise the
consolidated and separate statements of financgdipn as at December 31, 2016, and the
related consolidated and separate statements @t proloss, profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and casls flor the year then ended, and notes
to the financial statements, including a summarsighificant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated ampbrate financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial pm® of Advanced Info Service Public
Company Limited and its subsidiaries and of Advant&fo Service Public Company
Limited as at December 31, 2016, and financialggerance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Repp®$tandards (“TFRSS”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Thai @&ess on Auditing (“TSAS”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are furtllescribed in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidatadd Separate Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of theu@rin accordance with the Federation
of Accounting Professions under the Royal Patrorageis Majesty the King's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants together wli ¢thical requirements that are relevant
to the audit of the consolidated and separate iahstatements, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance whibse requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient appr@priate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in oofegsional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated aegasate financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the cooteodr audit of the consolidated and
separate financial statements as a whole, andnmrig our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters Audit Responses
Revenue recognition
There is a risk around the accuracy of the Grol
revenue recorded given the complexity of systé
and the impact of changing pricing models|te Evaluated the relevant IT systems and the design
revenue recognition. Furthermore the application and implementation and operating effectiveness of
of revenue recognition accounting standards is controls over the capture and recording of revenue
complex. transactions. In doing so, we involved our |IT
specialists to assist in the audit of automated
controls, including interface controls between
different IT applications.
e Evaluated the business process controls in place
e accounting for new products and tariffs over the authorization of rate changes, |[the

f;nkséay audit procedures included:

In addition, we have also identified critical argas
in relation to revenue recognition set out belpw
that we considered significant.

introduced in the year; introduction of new plans and the input of this
e accounting for long-term contracts; and information to biling systems. We audited the
¢ the timing of revenue recognition. access controls and change management controls

for such systems.
Performed audit on the accuracy of customer |bill
generation on a sample basis and testing of a sampl
of the credits and discounts applied to customer
bills; and testing cash receipts for a sample| of
customers back to the customer invoice.
e Audited key reconciliations used by management
from business support systems to billing systems to
the general ledger to assess the completeness and
accuracy of revenue.
e Audited supporting evidence for manual jourpal
entries posted to revenue accounts to identify |any
unusual items.

Accounting policies for revenue recognition was
disclosed in Note 3.17 to the financial statements.

In addition, our audit procedures related to @altareas
are as below;

e Audited samples of customer bills for accuracy |for
new products and tariffs introduced in the year.

e Performed procedures to long-term contracts which
may exhibit areas of audit interest such |as
significant change in margins and accounts With
high accrued revenue amongst others. We
challenged the assumptions and judgements
underpinning forecast

e Validated with the assumptions and key
management estimates adopted where revenue is
recognized but they have not issued invoice yet.
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Key Audit Matters

Audit Responses

Capitalization of assets and asset lives

There are a number of areas which impact
carrying value of property, plant and equipm
and intangible assets. We have identified crit
areas set out below that we considered signific

ent

[ ]
of

the decision to capitalize or expense costs
the timeliness of transfer from the course
construction to plant and equipment; and

management judgement used in the anf
asset life review.

Accounting policies for recognition and
measurement of property, plant and equipm
and intangible assets and details were disclq
in Notes 3.8, 3.10, 3.23 and Notes 11, 15 to

financial statements, respectively.

se

tKey audit procedures included:

(]
cal
ant.

1wal Challenged the judgements made by manage

ent

the

ant
the

Tested controls in place over the property, pl
and equipment cycle and evaluated
appropriateness of capitalization policies.

Performed audit of details on costs capitaliz
and assessed the timeliness of transfer from
course of construction to plant and equipment.

red
the

ent
on the appropriateness of asset lives appIieE in
the calculation of depreciation and amortization.

d

Significant commercial disputes and litigations

The Group has a number of legal, regulatory
tax cases. There is a high level of judgem
required in estimating the level of provisioni
required.

g

The Group operates under the supervision of
National Broadcasting and Telecommunicati
Commission (NBTC). If the NBTC has acts
lawfully upon any interpretation amendme
and/or enactment of new rules and regulatig
the Group may not lawfully file a lawsuit and/
make any claim for any indemnification.

pd
nts
ns
or

In addition, the Group cooperates with T(
Public Company Limited and CAT Teleco
Public Company Limited. There is a risk
conflict of interests between the entities.

m
of

g

nd

L

Significant events, commercial disputes
litigations were disclosed in Note 38 to the firiah
statements.

)

alaby audit procedures included:
ent
[ ]

The misstatement, including:
ons _

Designed and performed audit procedures in order
to identify litigations and claims involving the
Group which may give rise to a risk of material

Inquired of management and in-house lg
counsel about significant events, commer
disputes and litigation.

" - Reviewed minutes of meetings of those char
with governance and correspondence betweer
Group and its external legal counsel.

- Reviewed legal expense accounts.

Considered compliance with laws and regulation
the Group including:

- As part of obtaining an understanding of the @r
and its environment, we obtained a geng
understanding of:

- The legal and regulatory framework
applicable to the Group and the industry o
sector in which the Group operates; and

- How the Group is complying with that
framework.

- Inquired of management and those charged
governance, as to whether the Group is
compliance with such laws and regulations
inspecting correspondence, if any, with t
relevant regulatory authorities such as NBTC.

Requested management to provide writ
representations that all known actual or poss
litigation and claims whose effects should

considered when preparing the finang
statements have been disclosed to us

accounted for and disclosed in accordance

Thai financial reporting standards.

gal
cial

ged
n the

s of

DU
eral

with
in
and
he

ten
ble
be
ial
and
vith
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Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of Advanecdd Service Public Company Limited
and its subsidiaries and the separate financisdratents of Advanced Info Service Public
Company Limited for the year ended December 3152pfesented herein as comparative
information, were audited by another auditor, whieegeort thereon dated February 4, 2016
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other informatibhe other information comprises
information in the annual report, which is expediethe made available to us after the date
of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate finhstatements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of amste conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidatedl aeparate financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other informationritked above when it becomes available
and, in doing so, consider whether the other inédgrom is materially inconsistent with the

financial statements or our knowledge obtainedhim @udit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude thate is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the mattéinose charged with governance and
the management of the Group.

Responsibilites of Management and Those Charged thi Governance for the
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation amgpfesentation of the consolidated and
separate financial statements in accordance witRSH: and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enabledparption of consolidated and separate
financial statements that are free from materiagstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate finastatements, management is responsible
for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ahititcontinue as a going concern,

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to gmogcern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either istemdiquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative butdo.

Those charged with governance are responsible Verseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Corsolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurahoat avhether the consolidated and
separate financial statements as a whole are rfoee fhaterial misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s replbat includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but isargiarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with TSAs will always detect a matemakstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error andcarsidered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expéctedluence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidatedepatate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, werege professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout theitaide also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatgrof the consolidated and separate
financial statements, whether due to fraud or eraesign and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtalit auidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Tis& of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher thandoe resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissg misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relévarthe audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumsgnbat not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of treus internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting poliogesd and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures madehbhagement.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management'®fugee going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence olotameether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may sigsificant doubt on the Group’s and
Company’s ability to continue as a going concefnwé conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attenin our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statementsf@uych disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based @nahdit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future egemt conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure amdect of the consolidated and separate
financial statements, including the disclosuresg avhether the consolidated and
separate financial statements represent the umilgriyansactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regaydhe financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group @gpress an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are resplnfb the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain soledpoasible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governaagarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and sigmiticaudit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control thag¢ wdentify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance avidtatement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding indepergleand to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasor@bjnought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those chargéa governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the aaflihe consolidated and separate financial
statements of the current period and are therdf@ekey audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or ratjoh precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstancesdetermine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverseegoesces of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefisuch communication.

Dr. Suphamit Techamontrikul
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand)
BANGKOK Registration No. 3356
February 3, 2017 DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU JAIYOS AUDIT CO., LT D.



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

SUBSIDIARIES

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Specifically-designated bank deposits
Current investments
Trade and other receivables
Dividend receivables
Short-term loans to related parties
Inventories
Other current assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Investments in an associate
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in a joint venture
Other long-term investments
Property, plant and equipment

Assets under the Agreements for operations

Goodwill
Spectrum licenses
Other intangible assets
Swap and forward contracts receivable
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

Total assets

UNIT : BAHT
NOTES CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at As at As at As at
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2016 2015 2016 2015
11,226,140,704  9,864,912,703 409,710,983 1,153,323,176
2,963,182,980  4,447,280,062 - -
6 - 304,674,040 - -
7,34 14,116,309,540 16,388,529,471 1,868,662,606 5,482,137,002
34 - - 12,093,267,807  19,944,391,312
34 - - 39,243,900,000 44,243,900,000
8 3,085,251,635 5,059,252,355 67,871 38,632,788
35 508,453,933 1,942,220,774 248,207,349 1,329,506,403
31,899,338,792 38,006,869,405 53,863,816,616 72,191,890,681
9 24,234,502 - - -
10 - - 7,720,665,448 7,660,665,448
14,662,013 - - -
59,399,310 58,399,310 47,999,310 46,999,310
11 118,271,443,199 84,291,102,602 336,867,143 499,589,004
12 - - - -
13 34,930,692 34,930,692 - -
14 115,378,417,908 51,790,573,854 - -
15 4,099,208,006 3,192,332,249 46,745,757 72,491,069
35 577,660,237 795,449,411 517,060,528 795,449,411
16 2,617,832,320 1,251,587,959 868,037,276 64,889,855
34 2,693,223,583  2,340,027,690 1,494,358,084 1,001,345,194

243,771,011,770 143,754,403,767

11,031,733,546

10,141,429,291

275,670,350,562 181,761,273,172

64,895,550,162

82,333,319,972

Notes to the financial statements form an integaat of these statements



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

UNIT : BAHT

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings from financial institutions 17

NOTES

CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at
December 31,
2016

9,200,000,000

As at
December 31,
2015

8,500,000,000
27,750,537,994
4,355,626,863

5,364,084,953
2,331,763,136
4,447,280,062
4,761,207,636

22,791,839

SEPARATE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at
December 31,
2016

5,700,000,000
3,086,074,755
2,052,743,555
6,440,000,000
5,220,212,495
9,223,936

1,101,566

As at
December 31,
2015

7,700,000,000
3,475,832,250
4,327,462,057
6,490,000,000
5,223,510,781

44,592,133

1,816,750

57,533,292,483

22,509,356,307

27,263,213,971

Trade and other payables 18, 34 34,292,055,244
Current portion of long-term liabilities 17 2,484,7043
Current portion of spectrum licenses payable 19 I0XE7,156
Short-term borrowings from related parties 17,34 -
Accrued revenue sharing expenses 5,360,786,666
Unearned income - mobile phone service 3,208,042,630
Advanced received from customers 5 2,963,182,980
Income tax payable 1,756,300,784
Other current liabilities 45,798,270
Total current liabilities 69,328,028,223
Non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities 17 87,273,400,138
Employee benefit obligations 20 2,554,402,991
Spectrum licenses payable 19 72,180,037,834

Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Authorized share capital
4,997 million ordinary shares of
Baht 1.00 each
Issued and paid-up share capital
2,973 million ordinary shares of
Baht 1.00 each, fully paid

Additional paid-in capital
Premium on ordinary shares
Retained earnings
Appropriated
Legal reserve
Unappropriated
Other components of equity
Total equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

1,626,147,293

52,576,667,378
2,293,784,247
19,902,471,117
962,076,164

3,345,111,037
326,766,989

16,036,200

9,412,406,257
431,365,867

16,036,200

163,633,988,256

75,734,998,906

3,687,914,226

9,859,808,324

232,962,016,479

133,268,291,389

26,197,270,533

37,123,022,295

21
4,997,459,800 4,997,459,800 4,997,459,800 4,997,459,800
2,973,095,330 2,973,095,330 2,973,095,330 2,973,095,330
21 22,388,093,275 22,372,276,085 22,388,093,275 22,372,276,085
22 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000
16,471,015,050 22,313,204,401 12,761,597,893 19,308,356,485
23 236,679,794 217,756,435 75,493,131 56,569,777

42,568,883,449
139,450,634

48,376,332,251
116,649,532

38,698,279,629

45,210,297,677

42,708,334,083

48,492,981,783

38,698,279,629

45,210,297,677

275,670,350,562

181,761,273,172

64,895,550,162

82,333,319,972

Notes to the financial statements form an integaat of these statements



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

UNIT : BAHT

Revenues

Revenues from rendering of services and
equipment rentals

Revenue from sale of goods

Construction income from the Agreements

for operations
Total revenues

Costs

Cost of rendering of services and
equipment rentals

Revenue sharing expense

Cost of sale of goods

Construction cost from the Agreements
for operations

Total costs

Gross profit (loss)

Selling and administrative expenses
Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Total selling and administrative expenses

Profit (loss) from services, equipment
rentals and sales of goods

Investment income

Other operating income

Share of gain (loss) from investments in
an associate and a joint venture

Impairment loss on assets

Net gain on foreign exchange rate

Management benefit expenses

Finance costs

Profit before income tax
Income tax (expense) income
Profit for the year

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Profit for the year

Earnings per share (in Baht)
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

NOTES

25,34
34

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2016

128,226,136,756
23,923,729,805

2015

127,414,763,117
27,798,086,571

63,590,862

SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2016

4,949,542,510

2015

31,530,538,627
185,224

63,590,862

152,149,866,561

155,276,440,550

4,949,542,510

31,594,314,713

29, 34

(58,069,917,881)
(3,989,039)
(24,917,977,306)

(50,020,302,266)
(6,716,227,755)
(28,018,892,492)

(63,590,862)

(5,024,415,481)
(3,989,039)

(20,652,874,405)
(6,716,227,755)
(185,237)

(63,590,862)

(82,991,884,226)

(84,819,013,375)

(5,028,404,520)

(27,432,878,259)

29
29

69,157,982,335

(16,012,372,813)
(13,763,454,066)

70,457,427,175

(6,900,983,669)
(13,190,401,801)

(78,862,010)

(21,698,796)
(1,197,651,951)

4,161,436,454

(137,990,382)
(2,566,782,136)

(29,775,826,879)

(20,091,385,470)

(1,219,350,747)

(2,704,772,518)

26, 34

27,34

10

34
30, 34

39,382,155,456
203,951,212
364,175,929

23,896,565
277,161,087
(150,257,434)

(4,236,138,986)

50,366,041,705
291,108,353
447,704,704

(10,875,000)
228,779,748
(209,178,159)
(1,959,562,798)

(1,298,212,757)
29,540,009,830
1,663,222,514

21,865,404
(149,987,433)
(618,075,795)

1,456,663,936
38,313,574,249
509,177,054

(178,912,558)
16,438,334

(208,618,159)

(710,177,347)

31

35,864,943,829
(5,175,299,508)

49,154,018,553
(9,999,166,651)

29,158,821,763
803,147,421

39,198,145,509
(601,301,979)

30,689,644,321

39,154,851,902

29,961,969,184

38,596,843,530

30,666,538,425
23,105,896

39,152,410,435
2,441,467

29,961,969,184

38,596,843,530

30,689,644,321

39,154,851,902

29,961,969,184

38,596,843,530

32

10.31

13.17

10.08

12.98

10.31

13.17

10.08

12.98

Notes to the financial statements form an integaat of these statements



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

UNIT : BAHT
NOTES CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2016 2015 2016 2015
Profit for the year 30,689,644,321 39,154,851,902 29,961,969,184 38,596,843,530
Other comprehensive income
Item that will never be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
Actuarial gains (losses) from employee benefitgailon 20 - (636,532,321) - 14,012,680
Income tax on item that will never be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss 31 - 129,188,610 - (2,802,536)
- (507,343,711) - 11,210,144
Item that will be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale
investments - (7,731,308) - -
- (7,731,308) - -
Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of income tax - (515,075,019) - 11,210,144
Total comprehensive income for the year 30,689,644,321 38,639,776,883 29,961,969,184 38,608,053,674
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 30,666,538,425 38,637,285,511 29,961,969,184 38,608,053,674
Non-controlling interests 23,105,896 2,491,372 - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 30,689,644,321 38,639,776,883 29,961,969,184 38,608,053,674

Notes to the financial statements form an integaat of these statements



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

UNIT : BAHT
Retained earnings Other components of equity
Issued and Fair value Total equity
paid-up Reserve for Gain on changes in Total other attributableto Non-
share Share Legal share- dilution of available-for-sale components owners controlling
Notes capital premium reserve Unappropriated based paynm investment investments of equity of the Company integsts Total equity
Balance as at January 1, 2015 2,973,095,330 22,372,276,085 500,000,000 20,710,294,423 25,908,614 161,186,663 7,637,094 194,732,371 46,750,398,209 114,356,316 46,864,754,525
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equty
Contributions by and distributions to owner of the company
Share-based payment transaction 23 - - - - 30,661,163 - - 30,661,163 30,661,163 - 30,661,163
Dividends 33,34 - - - (37,042,012,632) - - B - (37,042,012,632) (198,149) (37,042,210,781)
Total Contributions by and distributions to owner of the company N - - (37,042,012,632) 30,661,163 N - 30,661,163 (37,011,351,469) (198,149) (37,011,549,618)
Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries
Liquidation of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - @ @
Total Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - @) @)
Total transactions with owners, recorded directly h equity N - - (37,042,012,632) 30,661,163 N - 30,661,163 (37,011,351,469) (198,156) (37,011,549,625)
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit - - - 39,152,410,435 - - - - 39,152,410,435 2,441,467 39,154,851,902
Other comprehensive income - - - (507,487,825) - - (7,637,099) (7,637,099) (515,124,924) 49,905 (515,075,019)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 38,644,922,610 - - (7,637,099) (7,637,099) 38,637,285,511 2,491,372 38,639,776,883
Balance as at December 31, 2015 2,973,095,330 22,372,276,085 500,000,000 22,313,204,401 56,569,777 161,186,663 (5) 217,756,435 48,376,332,251 116,649,532 48,492,981,783




ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

UNIT : BAHT
Retained earnings Other components of equity
Issued and Fair value Total equity
paid-up Reserve for Gain on changes in Total other attributableo Non-
share Share Legal share- dilution of available-for-sale components owners controlling
Notes capital premium reserve Unappropriated based paynre investment investments of equity of the Company intezsts Total equity

Balance as at January 1, 2016 2,973,095,330 22,372,276,085 500,000,000 22,313,204,401 56,569,777 161,186,663 (5) 217,756,435 48,376,332,251 116,649,532 48,492,981,783
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in eqty
Share-based payment transaction 23 - 15,817,190 - - 18,923,354 - - 18,923,354 34,740,544 - 34,740,544
Dividends 33,34 - - B (36,508,727,776) - - B - (36,508,727,776) (304,794) (36,509,032,570)
Total transactions with owners, recorded directly

in equity - 15,817,190 - (36,508,727,776) 18,923,354 - B 18,923,354 (36,473,987,232) (304,794) (36,474,292,026)
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit - - - 30,666,538,425 - - - - 30,666,538,425 23,105,896 30,689,644,321
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - 5 5 5 - 5
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 30,666,538,425 - - 5 5 30,666,538,430 23,105,896 30,689,644,326
Balance as at December 31, 2016 2,973,095,330 22,388,093,275 500,000,000 16,471,015,050 75,493,131 161,186,663 - 236,679,794 42,568,883,449 139,450,634 42,708,334,083

Notes to the financial statements form an integeat of these statements




ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

UNIT : BAHT
Other components
Retained earnings of equity
Issued and Reserve for
paid-up Share Legal share-
Notes share capital premium reserve Unappropriated basedayment Total equity
Balance as at January 1, 2015 2,973,095,330 22,372,276,085 500,000,000 17,742,315,443 25,908,614 43,613,595,472
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equty
Share-based payment transaction 23 - - - - 30,661,163 30,661,163
Dividends 33,34 - - - (37,042,012,632) - (37,042,012,632)
Total transactions with owners, recorded directly h equity - - - (37,042,012,632) 30,661,163 (37,011,351,469)
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit - - - 38,596,843,530 - 38,596,843,530
Other comprehensive income - - - 11,210,144 - 11,210,144
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 38,608,053,674 - 38,608,053,674
Balance as at December 31, 2015 2,973,095,330 22,372,276,085 500,000,000 19,308,356,485 56,569,777 45,210,297,677




ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

UNIT : BAHT
Other components
Retained earnings of equity
Issued and Reserve for
paid-up Share Legal share-
Notes share capital premium reserve Unappropriated basedayment Total equity
Balance as at January 1, 2016 2,973,095,330 22,372,276,085 500,000,000 19,308,356,485 56,569,777 45,210,297,677
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equty
Share-based payment transaction 23 - 15,817,190 - - 18,923,354 34,740,544
Dividends 33,34 - - - (36,508,727,776) - (36,508,727,776)
Total transactions with owners, recorded directly h equity - 15,817,190 - (36,508,727,776) 18,923,354 (36,473,987,232)
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit - - - 29,961,969,184 - 29,961,969,184
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 29,961,969,184 - 29,961,969,184
Balance as at December 31, 2016 2,973,095,330 22,388,093,275 500,000,000 12,761,597,893 75,493,131 38,698,279,629

Notes to the financial statements form an integaat of these statements



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

UNIT : BAHT

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for
Depreciation
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment loss on assets
Gain on write-off investment
Investment income
Finance costs
(Reversal of) doubtful accounts and bad
debts expenses
Share-based payment transaction
(Reversal of) allowance for obsolete,
decline in value and write-off inventories
Allowance for unused equipment
Loss on disposals and write-off of assets

Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign exchange rate
Share of (gain) of an associate and a joint venture

Income tax expense (income)
Cash provided by operation before

changes in operating assets and liggsilit

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Specifically-designated bank deposits
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Other non-current assets
Trade and other payables
Accrued revenue sharing expenses
Unearned income - mobile phone service
Advanced received from customers
Other current liabilities
Swap and forward contracts receivable
Other non-current liabilities

Cash generated from operating activities
Income tax paid

Net cash provided by operating activities

26, 34 (203,951,212)
30, 34 4,236,138,986

NOTES CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2016 2015

30,689,644,321  39,154,851,902

11, 29 15,464,345,085 10,153,064,049
12, 14,15, 29

8,267,902 10,342,113,949

(291,108,353)
1,959,562,798

1,537,699,855 1,315,294,405

23 34,740,544 30,661,163

8 301,380 206,635,330
135,772,815 -

23,070,619 302,482,364

6@4,350) 25,736,068

(23,896,515) 10,875,000

31 5,175,299,508 9,999,166,651

SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2016

29,961,969,184

127,013,270
25,707,184

(29,540,009,830)

618,075,795

(2,165,297)
34,740,544

(35,986,900)

15,111,907
(25,967,745)

(803,147,421)

2015

38,596,843,530

289,207,391
8,647,077,182
178,912,558
(4,627)
(38,313,574,249)
710,177,347

(3,823)
30,661,163

(20,279,330)

200,707,183
(16,206,033)

601,301,979

63,543,746,938 73,209,335,326

1,484,097,082 (737,952,157)

731,903,785  (2,046,091,556)
1,672,451,340  (2,714,489,868)
1,022,641,449 (146,711,825)

2,600,497 (622,142,330)
3,280,463,173  2,018,694,672
(3,298,287) 233,928,085
876,279,494 148,587,736
(1,484,097,082) 737,952,157

23,006,431 (344,345,910)
102,801,487 90,216,995
276,107,578 97,008,392

375,340,691

3,231,251,687
74,551,818
707,059,084
(212,730,863)
(415,145,123)
(3,298,287)
(35,368,197)
(715,184)
18,431,096
(115,117,009)

10,904,820,271

7,517,936,253
33,809,950
(714,276,630)
(2,206,470)
(559,596,118)
233,928,084
(584,178,592)
(329,091,314)
10,452,864
23,340,663

715378888, 69,923,989,717
(9,902,247,111)  (8,294,587,940)

3,624,259,713
(280,282,027)

16,534,938,961
(1,008,539,496)

61,635,456,774  61,629,401,777

3,343,977,686

15,526,399,465




ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Notes to the financial statements form an integaat of these statements

UNIT : BAHT
NOTES CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2016 2015 2016 2015
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and other
intangible assets (47,554,102,096) (32,107,980,096) (44,280,489) (76,708,367)
Sale of equipment 17,398,486 22,119,868 33,946,725 375,608,653
Purchase of intangible assets under the Agreements
for operations - (146,548,316) - (146,548,316)
Payment of spectrum license (8,069,266,618) (24,159,783,315) - -
Net (increase) decrease in short-term loans to
related parties 34 - 95,000,000 5,000,000,000 (8,654,140,000)
Cash received from return of capital from subsidiar - - - 74,999,994
Cash received from liquidation of subsidiary - - - 11,572,116
Additional investments in associate, joint venture
and subsidiary 9,10 (15,000,000) (10,875,000) (60,000,000) (14,000,000)
Net (increase) decrease in other investments 6 30363 1,230,043,637 (1,000,000) -
Dividend received - 40,000,000 35,860,268,711 16,800,110,540
Interest received 215,749,753 282,277,603 1,917,532,686 1,506,581,952
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (55,101,546,430) (54,755,745,619) 42,706,467,633 9,877,476,572
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (2,568,102,986) (1,612,268,572) (519,741,393) (659,025,441)
Other finance costs paid (201,233,344) (178,230,431) (92,159) (3,755,693)
Payments of liabilities under finance lease agredsne (47,303,990) (42,625,067) (13,985,714) (23,454,382)
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings
from financial institutions 700,000,000 8,500,000,000  (2,000,000,000) 7,700,000,000
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings
from related parties 34 - - (50,000,000)  6,490,000,000
Proceed of long-term liabilities 41,153,737,500 21,500,000,000 - -
Repayments of long-term liabilities (7,699,136,051) (2,392,022,730) (7,699,135,730) (2,392,022,730)
Cash returned paid to non-controlling interests
from liquidation of subsidiaries - 7) - -
Dividend paid (36,508,870,377) (37,042,102,092) (36,508,727,776) (37,042,012,632)
Net cash used in financing activities (5,170,909,248) (11,267,248,899) (46,791,682,772) (25,930,270,878)
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances
held in foreign currencies (1,773,095) 439,042 (2,374,740) 425,669
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivatent 1,361,228,001 (4,393,153,699) (743,612,193) (525,969,172)
Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1, 9,864,912,703  14,258,066,402 1,153,323,176 1,679,292,348
Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 4 11,226,140,704 9,864,912,703 409,710,983 1,153,323,176
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Non-cash transactions
Outstanding debts arising from investments in
capital expenditures and spectrum license 94,784988  30,055,264,117 559,223 44,180,458
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ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Advanced Info Service Public Company Limited (théotmpany”) is incorporated in
Thailand and has its registered office at 414 Atsvér 1, Phaholyothin Road, Phayathai,
Bangkok, Thailand.

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange oild@rithin November 1991.

Intouch Holdings Public Company Limited is a maginareholder, holding 40.45%

(December 31, 2015: 40.45%) of the authorized slkapgtal of the Company and is

incorporated in Thailand. SingTel Strategic Investits Pte Ltd. is a shareholder, holding
23.32% (December 31, 2015: 23.32%) of the authdr&twre capital of the Company and
is incorporated in Singapore.

The major principal business operations of the Gomgpand its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
are summarized as follows:

1) The operation of a 900 MHz CELLULAR TELEPHONE SYSWIEas the operator.
The Company has been granted permission from TO@QlidP@Company Limited
(“TOT”), under the Agreement for operation datedrtha27, 1990, to operate and
service of Cellular Mobile Telephone, either angl@gMT) or Digital GSM, 900 MHz
frequency nationwide, parallel operation for 25rgesince October 1, 1990, being the
first commercial operating date of service. The e&gnent ended on September 30,
2015. The Company is obliged to comply with vari@memditions and pay revenue
sharing in accordance with the Agreement.

Under the Agreement, the Company shall be entittedmmediately transfer the
ownership right of its tools and equipment or asdet operating the 900 MHz
Cellular System to TOT when the installation hasrbeompleted and the Company
shall pay TOT annual revenue sharing in accordamitle the Agreement at the
percentage of annual revenues and any benefit tihenrmobile phone service prior to
deducting any expenses and any tax or the minimmmaa revenue sharing stipulated
in the Agreement. The Agreement does not specifyimmum cumulative amount
over the term of the Agreement.

The percentages of the service revenues and minammual revenue sharing for each
years are as follows:

Year Percentage of Minimum annual revenue sharing
revenues (in million Baht)
1-5 15 13 to 147
6-10 20 253 to 484
11-15 25 677 to 965
16 - 20 30 1,236 to 1,460

21-25 30 1,460



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

2)

The Agreement for operation of the Company wasregpon September 30, 2015.
Thus, on September 17, 2015, the National Broamhcpasind Telecommunications
Commission (“NBTC”) has announced a temporary custoprotection measure after
the Agreement expired (Issue no.2) to assign therabpr to provide continuing

services to the subscribers. The operator must lyowifh the rules and conditions set
forth in the announcement.

On October 15, 2015, NBTC submitted a letter to@menpany on determination on
the end of customer protection period on 900 MHa eoncluded that the Company
must provide temporary continuing service until Bmber 19, 2015.

Later, on November 2, 2015, the National Telecomioaiion Commission (“NTC”)
decided to postpone the auction of 900 MHz licefieen November 12, 2015 to
December 15, 2015.

On April 12, 2016, the National Council for Peacwl &rder (“NCPQ”) issued an
order no. 16/2559 on Spectrum Auction for Telecomization Business. Such order
mandates NBTC to set up 900 MHz spectrum auctioMay 27, 2016, and extend
the remedy period of 900 MHz to be effective uatihe 30, 2016 or until the official
date the NBTC shall grant the spectrum licensehto lidding winner, whichever
comes first.

Later, on June 30, 2016, NBTC announced the ermfingmedy period for customers
who on 900 MHz after Advanced Wireless Network Cad. (“AWN”), a subsidiary,
paid the first instalment of 900 MHz license ong@8, 2016 which has been granted
permission from NBTC on June 30, 2016.

The operation of a DATAKIT VIRTUAL CIRCUIT SWITCH s the operator.
Advanced Datanetwork Communications Co., Ltd. (“AQGn indirect subsidiary,
has been granted permission from TOT Public Comphamyited (“TOT"),
under the Agreement dated September 19, 1989, dadering services for
DATAKIT VIRTUAL CIRCUIT SWITCH in the area of the Mtropolitan Telephone
Exchange.

Under the Agreement, ADC shall be entitled to imratdy transfer the ownership
right of its tools and equipment or assets for afjen of DATAKIT System to TOT
when the installation has been completed and AD&ll glay TOT annual revenue
sharing in accordance with the Agreement at thegueage of annual revenues and
any benefit from service of DATAKIT VIRTUAL CIRCUITSWITCH prior to
deducting any expenses and any tax or the minirmmaa revenue sharing stipulated
in the Agreement.
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3)

ADC and TOT have mutually agreed to amend the Agesg and signed the
Supplemental Agreement on September 25,1997 tmextes validity period from
10 years to 25 years (such validity period willdreled on September 24, 2022) and
waive the collection of annual revenue sharing uride agreements effective from
September 25, 1997. ADC issued 10.75 million orglirshares at a par value of Baht 10
(11.23% of total shares) to TOT on March 17, 1998adnsideration of such waiver. As
at December 31, 2016, TOT owns 48.12% of ADC’sltetaares (2015: 48.12%).

The operation of an 1800 MHz CELLULAR TELEPHONE SMSM as the operator.
Digital Phone Company Limited (“DPC”), a subsidiahas been granted permission
from CAT Telecom Public Company Limited (“CAT”), dar the Agreement for
operation dated on November 19, 1996 (“the Agredfjheto operate and service
Cellular Mobile Telephone: Digital PCN (PERSONAL GM®UNICATION
NETWORK) 1800, frequency between 1747.9 MHz to 136@Hz and 1842.9 MHz
to 1855.5 MHz, nationwide. DPC started the opemtammmencing from
May 28, 1997, ending September 15, 2013 and DPCoabhged to comply with
various conditions and pay revenue sharing in atzoure with the Agreement.

Under the Agreement, DPC was entitled to immedyateinsfer the ownership right
of its machineries, all equipment and tools or @sfer operation to CAT upon
installation completion and DPC paid CAT the annwevenue sharing at the
percentage of annual revenues and any benefitdardiang with the accrual basis
from the mobile phone service prior to deducting arpenses and any tax and fees
which the minimum revenue sharing must accumuéater the term of the Agreement,
not less than Baht 5,400 million as follows:

Year Percentage of Minimum annual revenue sharing
revenues (in million Baht)
1 25 9
2-9 20 60 to 320
10-14 25 350 to 650
15-16 30 670

DPC paid the revenue sharing to CAT through theeegent period in the total
amount of Baht 15,853 million.
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4)

The Agreement was expired on September 15, 2013s,Tén August 16, 2013, the
National Broadcast and Telecommunication Commis§iNBTC”) has announced a
temporary customer protection measure after theeégent expired to assign the
operator to provide continuing services to the etibsrs for up to a further 1 year
commencing from the Agreement expiration date. djperator must comply with the
rules and conditions set forth in the announcem@nt.July 17, 2014, the National
Council for Peace and Order (“NCPQO”) has announeedorder No. 94/2557
“Suspension the Implementation of the Act on Orgation to Assign Radio Frequency
and to Regulate the Broadcasting and Communicagengices” to instruct NBTC to
postpone an auction for spectrum licenses for & geammencing from the order date.
During the postpone period, the operator has to ptpnwith the NBTC’s
announcement on August 16, 2013 to provide comigservices to the subscribers.
The application of those rules and conditions t@deen clarified in detail by NBTC
yet (including expenses that may be deducted ivilagrat a notional profit payable to
the State). Consequently, the outcome of complywty this extension on DPC is
currently uncertain.

On November 24, 2015, NBTC has announced the end w@&mporary customer
protection period on 1800 MHz on November 26, 2015.

The operation of a 2.1 GHz CELLULAR TELEPHONE SYSMEs the operator.
Advanced Wireless Network Co., Ltd. (“AWN”), a subary, has been granted
permission from the Office of the National Broadiras and Telecommunications
Commission (“NBTC"), under the license certificdteicense”) dated on December 7,
2012, to operate and service Cellular Mobile Teteyh frequency between 1950 MHz
to 1965 MHz and 2140 MHz to 2155 MHz, nationwideagtordance with the license
certificate no. NBTC/FREQ/TEL/55/1. AWN started tbperation commencing from
December 7, 2012, ending December 6, 2027 and Agvbbliged to comply with
various conditions and pay fees within the timequeas specified in the License.

License of Spectrum for Telecommunications Servicéhe Frequency Band of
1800 MHz.

On November 17, 2015, AWN has been granted peoniggm the Office of the National
Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission T®B, under the license
certificate (“License”) dated on November 25, 2Gb5yperate and service Cellular Mobile
Telephone, frequency between 1725 MHz to 1740 Mitt 2820 MHz to 1835 MHz,
nationwide in accordance with the license certficamo. NBTC/FREQ/TEL/55/1
(Addendum no.1l). AWN started the operation comnmgndiom November 26, 2015,
ending September 15, 2033 and AWN is obliged toptpmith various conditions and pay
fees within the time period as specified in theshge.
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License of Spectrum for Telecommunications Seniitethe FrequencyBand of
900 MHz.

On May 27, 2016, AWN has been granted permissiom fihe Office of the National
Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission @B, under the license
certificate (“License”) dated on June 30, 2016pperate and service Cellular Mobile
Telephone, frequency between 895 MHz to 905 MHz @4d MHz to 950 MHz,
nationwide in accordance with the license certificamo. NBTC/FREQ/TEL/55/1
(Addendum no.2) dated June 30, 2016. AWN has sltahte operation commencing
from July 1, 2016, ending June 30, 2031 and AWNbikged to comply with various
conditions and pay fees within the time period@ecgied in the License.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries, associatij@nt venture as at December 31, are

as follows:
Country of Ownership interest
Name of the entities Type of business incorporation (%)
2016 2015
Subsidiaries
Advanced Contact Center Co., Ltd. Service provalerall center Thailand 99.99 99.99
Digital Phone Co., Ltd. Service provider of digitabbile Thailand 98.55 98.55
phone system
Advanced Magic Card Co., Ltd. Distributor of caaindcbusiness Thailand 99.99 99.99
Advanced Mpay Co., Ltd. Service provider of eleotco Thailand 99.99 99.99
payment and cash card
AIN GlobalComm Co., Ltd. Service provider of intational Thailand 99.99 99.99
telephone service/gateway
Advanced Wireless Network Co., Ltd. Service pravideof cellular Thailand 99.99 99.99
telephone network in 2.1 GHz,
900 MHz and 1800 MHz
frequency, distributor of handsets
and international  telephone
service, network operator, telecom
service operator and national
broadcasting network services.
Super Broadband Network Co., Ltd. Network operaad telecom Thailand 99.99 99.99
service operator i.e. internet
(ISP), international & national
internet gateway, International
Private Leased Circuit (IPLC),
Internet Protocol Virtual Private
Network (IP VPN), voice over
IP, and IP Television
Wireless Device Supply Co., Ltd. Importer and iigtor of handset Thailand 99.99 99.99

and accessories
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Country of Ownership interest
Name of the entities Type of business incorporation (%)
2016 2015
Subsidiaries(Continued)
Fax Lite Co., Ltd. Operate in land and building rental ~ Thailand 99.98 99.98
and service, and related facilities

MIMO Tech Co., Ltd. Operate IT, content aggregator, Thailand 99.99 99.99
and outsourcing service for billing
and collection

Advanced Broadband Network Co., LtdCurrently not start the operation Thailand 99.99 9.99

Indirect Subsidiaries
Advanced Datanetwork Communicatic Service provider of online data Thailand 51.00 51.00

Co., Ltd. communications service via telephone

land line and optical fiber

Associate
Information Highway Co., Ltd. Transmission netwgnovider Thailand 29.00 29.00

Joint Venture
Amata Network Co., Ltd. Currently not start thesmtion Thailand 60.00 -

The Group and the Company have extensive transactiad relationships with the
related companies. Accordingly, the accompanyintaricial statements may not
necessarily be indicative of the conditions thatuldohave existed or the results of
operations that would have occurred if the Groud #re Company had operated
without such affiliation.

2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1  The Group and the Company maintain its accogntecords in Thai Baht and
prepares its statutory financial statements inTtha language in conformity with
Thai Financial Reporting Standards and General pteck Accounting Principal
in Thailand.

2.2 The Group’s and the Company’s financial statégmérave been prepared in
accordance with the Thai Accounting Standard (“TASDb. 1 (Revised 2015)
“Presentation of Financial Statements”, which wksative for financial periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2016 onward, &edRegulation of The Stock
Exchange of Thailand (“SET”) dated January 22, 208¢arding the preparation
and submission of financial statements and regdortshe financial position and
results of operations of the listed companies B®44 and the Notification of
the Department of Business Development dated Sémie@8, 2011 regarding
“The Brief Particulars in the Financial Statemeri B2554".
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2.3

2.4

The financial statements have been preparedruhd historical cost convention
except as disclosed in the significant accountiolcies.

Below is a summary of new Thai Financial RapgrtStandards that became
effective in the current accounting year and thibs¢ will become effective in the
future.

1)

Adoption of new and revised Thai Financial RépgrStandards

The Federation of Accounting Professions has isdhed Notifications

regarding Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TER®hich are effective

for the financial statements for the period begignon or after January 1,
2016 onwards, as follow:

Thai Accounting Standards (“TAS”)

TAS 1 (Revised 2015)
TAS 2 (Revised 2015)
TAS 7 (Revised 2015)
TAS 8 (Revised 2015)
TAS 10 (Revised 2015)
TAS 11 (Revised 2015)
TAS 12 (Revised 2015)
TAS 16 (Revised 2015)
TAS 17 (Revised 2015)
TAS 18 (Revised 2015)
TAS 19 (Revised 2015)
TAS 20 (Revised 2015)

TAS 21 (Revised 2015)
TAS 23 (Revised 2015)
TAS 24 (Revised 2015)
TAS 26 (Revised 2015)
TAS 27 (Revised 2015)
TAS 28 (Revised 2015)
TAS 29 (Revised 2015)
TAS 33 (Revised 2015)
TAS 34 (Revised 2015)
TAS 36 (Revised 2015)
TAS 37 (Revised 2015)
TAS 38 (Revised 2015)
TAS 40 (Revised 2015)
TAS 41

Presentation of Financial &tates
Inventories
Statement of Cash Flows
Accounting Policies, Changesdoounting Estimates and Errors
Events after the Reportingd@eri
Construction Contracts
Income Taxes
Property, Plant and Equipment
Leases
Revenue
Employee Benefits
Accounting for Government @&amd Disclosure of Government
Assistance
The Effects of Changes in Bor&xchange Rate
Borrowing Costs
Related Party Disclosures
Accounting and Reporting byrBetént Benefit Plans
Separate Financial Statements
Investments in AssociatesJaintt Ventures
Financial Reporting in Hypdaitibnary Economies
Earnings per Share
Interim Financial Reporting
Impairment of Assets
Provisions, Contingent Lialeitand Contingent Assets
Intangible Assets
Investment Property
Agriculture
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Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”)

TFRS 2 (Revised 2015) Share-based Payment

TFRS 3 (Revised 2015) Business Combinations

TFRS 4 (Revised 2015) Insurance Contracts

TFRS 5 (Revised 2015) Non-current Assets Held fée 8ad Discontinued Operations
TFRS 6 (Revised 2015) Exploration for and EvaluatibMineral Resources

TFRS 8 (Revised 2015) Operating Segments

TFRS 10 (Revised 2015) Consolidated Financial Stattsne

TFRS 11 (Revised 2015) Joint Arrangements

TFRS 12 (Revised 2015) Disclosure of Interests ime©Entities

TFRS 13 (Revised 2015) Fair Value Measurement

Thai Accounting Standards Interpretations (“TSIC”)

TSIC 10 (Revised 2015) Government Assistance - NeiSp&elation to Operating
Activities

TSIC 15 (Revised 2015) Operating Leases - Incentives

TSIC 25 (Revised 2015) Income Taxes - Changes indleSTatus of an Entity or its
Shareholders

TSIC 27 (Revised 2015) Evaluating the SubstanceafSactions Involving the Legal

Form of a Lease

TSIC 29 (Revised 2015) Service Concession Arrangemdisslosures

TSIC 31 (Revised 2015) Revenue - Barter Transactioravimg Advertising Services

TSIC 32 (Revised 2015) Intangible Assets - Web Sitst€o

Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations (“TFRIC”)
TFRIC 1 (Revised 2015) Changes in Existing Decommissioning, RestorationSindlar

Liabilities

TFRIC 4 (Revised 2015) Determining whether an Arrang@noontains a Lease

TFRIC 5 (Revised 2015) Rights to Interests arising fla@zommissioning, Restoration and
Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

TFRIC 7 (Revised 2015) Applying the Restatement Apgraawler TAS 29 (Revised 2015)

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
TFRIC 10 (Revised 2015) Interim Financial Reporting Bnpairment
TFRIC 12 (Revised 2015) Service Concession Arrangements
TFRIC 13 (Revised 2015) Customer Loyalty Programmes
TFRIC 14 (Revised 2015) TAS 19 (Revised 2015) - Theitldm a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction
TFRIC 15 (Revised 2015) Agreements for the ConstruatfdReal Estate
TFRIC 17 (Revised 2015) Distributions of Non-cash As$e Owners
TFRIC 18 (Revised 2015) Transfers of Assets from Custem
TFRIC 20 (Revised 2015) Stripping Costs in the ProdadBihase of a Surface Mine
TFRIC 21 Levies

Guideline on Accounting
Guideline on Accounting regarding Recognition andableement of Bearer Plants

Guideline on Accounting for Insurance Business rdiggr Designation of Financial Instruments at
Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Above TFRSs have no material impact on these fiadstatements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2)
yet effective

2016

Thai Financial Reporting Standards announcetl@rRoyal Gazette but not

The Federation of Accounting Professions has isdihed Notifications

regarding Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TER®/hich are effective

for the financial statements for the period begignon or after January 1,
2017 onwards, as follow

Thai Accounting Standards (*

TAS 1 (Revised 2016)
TAS 2 (Revised 2016)
TAS 7 (Revised 2016)
TAS 8 (Revised 2016)
TAS 10 (Revised 2016)
TAS 11 (Revised 2016)
TAS 12 (Revised 2016)
TAS 16 (Revised 2016)
TAS 17 (Revised 2016)
TAS 18 (Revised 2016)
TAS 19 (Revised 2016)
TAS 20 (Revised 2016)

“TAS”)

Presentation of Financial Statgs

Inventories

Statement of Cash Flows

Accounting Policies, Changesdoounting Estimates and Errors
Events after the Reportingoderi

Construction Contracts

Income taxes

Property, Plant and Equipment

Leases

Revenue

Employee Benefits

Accounting for Government @&amd Disclosure of Government

Assistance

TAS 21 (Revised 2016)
TAS 23 (Revised 2016)
TAS 24 (Revised 2016)
TAS 26 (Revised 2016)
TAS 27 (Revised 2016)
TAS 28 (Revised 2016)
TAS 29 (Revised 2016)
TAS 33 (Revised 2016)
TAS 34 (Revised 2016)
TAS 36 (Revised 2016)
TAS 37 (Revised 2016)
TAS 38 (Revised 2016)
TAS 40 (Revised 2016)
TAS 41 (Revised 2016)

The Effects of Changes in gar&xchange Rates
Borrowing Costs

Related Party Disclosures

Accounting and Reporting byrBetent Benefit Plans
Separate Financial Statements

Investments in AssociatesJaimt Ventures

Financial Reporting in Hypdaitibnary Economies
Earnings Per Share

Interim Financial Reporting

Impairment of Assets

Provisions, Contingent Liale#titand Contingent Assets
Intangible Assets

Investment Property

Agriculture

TAS 104 (Revised 2016) Accounting for Troubled Debt Restructuring
TAS 105 (Revised 2016) Accounting for Investments in Debt and Equity Sdzrs
TAS 107 (Revised 2016) Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentation

Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”)

TFRS 2 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 3 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 4 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 5 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 6 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 8 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 10 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 11 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 12 (Revised 2016)
TFRS 13 (Revised 2016)

Share-based Payment

Business Combinations

Insurance Contracts

Non-current Assets Held foe §atl Discontinued Operations
Exploration for and EvaluatibMineral Resources
Operating Segments

Consolidated Financial Statemen

Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of Interests ireOfntities

Fair Value Measurement
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Thai Accounting Standard Interpretations (“TSIC")

TSIC 10 (Revised 2016) Government Assistance - Naiip&elation to Operating Activities

TSIC 15 (Revised 2016) Operating Leases - Incentives

TSIC 25 (Revised 2016) Income Taxes - Changes indfeStatus of and Enterprise or its
Shareholders

TSIC 27 (Revised 2016) Evaluating the Substanceafidactions in the Legal Form of a Lease

TSIC 29 (Revised 2016) Service Concession ArrangemBigslosures

TSIC 31 (Revised 2016) Revenue - Barter Transactioravimg Advertising Services

TSIC 32 (Revised 2016) Intangible Assets - Web Sitst€o

Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations (“TFRIC”)

TFRIC 1 (Revised 2016) Changes in Existing DecommigsipiiRestoration and Similar
Liabilities

TFRIC 4 (Revised 2016) Determining whether an Arrang@noontains a Lease

TFRIC 5 (Revised 2016) Rights to Interests arising fladsommissioning, Restoration and
Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

TFRIC 7 (Revised 2016) Applying the Restatement Appraawer TAS 29 Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

TFRIC 10 (Revised 2016) Interim Financial Reporting Bmpairment

TFRIC 12 (Revised 2016)  Service Concession Arrangements

TFRIC 13 (Revised 2016)  Customer Loyalty Programmes

TFRIC 14 (Revised 2016) TAS 19 - The Limit on a Defilgenefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction

TFRIC 15 (Revised 2016)  Agreements for the ConstrudfdReal Estate

TFRIC 17 (Revised 2016)  Distributions of Non - caslséis to Owners

TFRIC 18 (Revised 2016)  Transfers of Assets from Custem

TFRIC 20 (Revised 2016)  Stripping Costs in the Prodadiihase of a Surface Mine

TFRIC 21 (Revised 2016) Levies

Guideline of Accounting

Guideline of accounting for derecognition of fine@ssets and financial liabilities

The Group’s and the Company’'s management will adaph TFRSs in the
preparation of the Group’s and the Company’s firrgtatements when it
becomes effective. The Group’s and the Companysiagement have

assessed the impact of this TFRS and believestthat not have material
impact on the financial statements for the penodhich it is initially applied.

-10 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have beerdieponsistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

3.1

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements relate toGbempany and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Girsupterests in associatend
joint venture.

Business combinations

The Group and the Company apply the acquisitionhotetfor all business
combinations when control is transferred to the uprather than those with
entities under common control.

Control is the power to govern the financial an@ragting policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities. In ass&g control, the Group and the
Company take into consideration potential votinghts that currently are
exercisable. The acquisition date is the date oiclwontrol is transferred to the
acquirer. Judgment is applied in determining thguasition date and determining
whether control is transferred from one party tothar.

Goodwill is measured as the fair value of the adersition transferred including

the recognized amount of any non-controlling indere the acquiree, less the net
recognized amount (generally fair value) of thenideable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acipisdate.

Consideration transferred includes the fair valhfethe assets transferred, liabilities
incurred by the Group and the Company to the pusvawners of the acquiree, and
equity interests issued by the Group and the Cognp@ansideration transferred
also includes the fair value of any contingent abersition and share-based payment
awards of the acquiree that are replaced mandatorihe business combination. If
a business combination results in the terminatibrpre-existing relationships
between the Group and the Company and the acquhreg, the lower of the
termination amount, as contained in the agreenaewt,the value of the off-market
element is deducted from the consideration traresleand recognized in other
expenses.

When share-based payment awards exchanged (reglacewards) for awards
held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s ayaeliste to past services, then a
part of the market-based measure of the awardsoeglis included in the
consideration transferred. If they require futlee/ges, then the difference between
the amount included in consideration transferredl thie market-based measure of
the replacement awards is treated as post-cominnadimpensation cost.

-11 -



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

A contingent liability of the acquiree is assumediibusiness combination only if
such a liability represents a present obligatiot amses from a past event, and its
fair value can be measured reliably.

The Group and the Company measure any non-congoifiterest (NCI) at its
proportionate interest in the identifiable net é&s&f the acquiree.

Transaction costs that the Group and the Compacyr im connection with a
business combination, such as legal fees, and pifeéessional and consulting
fees are expensed as incurred.

Acquisitions from entities under common control

Business combinations of entities or businesseserurmdmmon control are
accounted for using a method similar to the poolaignterest method and in
accordance with the Guideline issued in 2009 byRbkderation of Accounting
Professions.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Grolipe Group controls an entity
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variableinns from its involvement with

the entity and has the ability to affect those metuthrough its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries @cluded in the consolidated
financial statements from the date on which contmyhmences until the date on
which control ceases.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiargleitecognizes the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related raamtrolling interests and other

components of equity. Any resulting gain or losseisognized in the statement of
profit or loss and the statement of profit or lassl other comprehensive income.
Any interest retained in the former subsidiary isasured at fair value when

control is lost.

Interests in equity - accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investeesprise interests in
associates and joint venture.

Associates are those entities in which the Growgpdngnificant influence, but not
control or joint control, over the financial andewating policies.

Joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby théiggthat have joint control of
the arrangement have rights to the net asseteartangement. The investment in
joint venture is accounted for in the consolidat@éncial statements using the
equity method and is recognized initially at cost.

-12 -
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3.2

3.3

Interests in associates and joint venture are aatedufor using the equity method.
They are recognized initially at cost, which inasdransaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the consolidated financsthtements include the Group’s
share of profit or loss of equity-accounted investa the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, until the date on which figamt influence or joint
control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and anyalired income or expenses
arising from intra-group transactions, are elimahin preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealized gains arising frinansactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against thestiment to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losgeseliminated in the same way
as unrealized gains, but only to the extent thextetlis no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translatethé functional currency (Thai
Baht) of the Group at the dates of the transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated inifpreurrencies at the reporting
date are translated to the functional currenchafdreign exchange rates ruling at
that date. Foreign exchange differences arisingganslation are recognized in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at icogoreign currencies are
translated to the functional currency using theifpn exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group and the Company use financial instrumémtshanage exposure to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange and ederates. These instruments,
which mainly comprise forward foreign currency gaets, cross currency swap
agreements and interest rate swap are recordét iinancial statements on the
contract date. The purpose of these instrumertsrstigate risk.

Swap and forward contracts protect the Group aadCtbmpany from fluctuations

in exchange rates by establishing the rate at whidbreign currency asset or
liability will be settled. Swap and forward contteare recorded as swap and
forward contracts receivable and payable on inoaptand are translated at the
end of the reporting period exchange rate. Unredligains or losses on

transactions are recognized in the statement ofitpoo loss. Premiums or

discounts are amortized in the statement of pmfikoss on a straight-line basis
over the contract period.
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3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

Interest rate derivatives help the Group and the@amy to better manage effects
from fluctuations in floating interest rates. Anifferential to be received or paid
on an interest rate derivative is recognized asmponent of interest income or
expense over the period of such instrument. Gaifhssses of early termination of
interest rate derivatives or on repayment of thedvang are recognized in the
statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, casimka tygpe current accounts and
saving accounts excluding cash at banks used kderal and highly liquid short-
term investments with original maturities of threenths or less.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at cosbheatilowance for doubtful
accounts.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is assessedgpily on analysis of payment
histories and future expectations of customer paysaé3ad debts are written off
when incurred.

Inventories

Inventories comprise mobile phones, refill cards) sards and spare parts used
for repairs and services.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and reatizable value. Cost of
inventories are calculated by using moving weiglaeerage method.

Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs ofersion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present logatand condition.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling priicethe ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs to completeoandke the sale.

An allowance for obsolete are decline in value mrade for all deteriorated,
changed, obsolete and slow-moving inventories.

Investments
Investments in associate, joint venture and sudnsed

Investments in subsidiaries in the separate firsrstatements of the Company
are accounted for using the cost method less imgait losses. Investment in

associate and joint venture in the consolidatednitnal statements are accounted
for using the equity method.
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Investments in fixed deposit at banks other debitexjuity securities

Fixed deposit at bank is presented as part of cuirestment with maturities
over three months, not exceeding one year.

Debt securities and marketable equity securitidd foe trading are classified as
current assets and are stated at fair value, wity r@sultant gain or loss
recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Debt securities that the Group and the Company llagepositive intent and
ability to hold to maturity are classified as hébdmaturity investments. Held-to-
maturity investments are stated at amortized @sst &ny impairment losses. The
difference between the acquisition cost and redempvalue of such debt
securities is amortized using the effective interate method over the period to
maturity.

Debt securities and marketable equity securitiisgrothan those securities held
for trading or intended to be held to maturity, alassified as available-for-sale
investments. Available-for-sale investments ardssqguent to initial recognition,

stated at fair value, and changes therein, otlaar timpairment losses and foreign
currency differences on available-for-sale monet@mys, are recognized directly
in equity. Impairment losses and foreign exchandferdnces are recognized in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprsivenincome. When these
investments are derecognized, the cumulative gaionss previously recognized
directly in equity is recognized in the statemeftpoofit or loss and other

comprehensive income. In case of these investnartinterest-bearing, interest
calculated using the effective interest methodeisognized in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Equity securities which are not marketable areestait cost less any impairment
losses.

The fair value of financial instruments classifesl held-for-trading and available-
for-sale is determined as the quoted bid priceeend of the reporting period.

Disposal of investments

On disposal of an investment, the difference betwest disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount together with the associated cutivelagain or loss that was
reported in equity is recognized in the statemenprofit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

If the Group and the Company dispose of part ofhibdding of a particular
investment, the deemed cost of the part sold israeted using the FIFO method
applied to the carrying value of the total holdofghe investment.
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3.8

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Owned assets

Property is stated at cost less allowance for impamt.

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less acatedudepreciation and allowance
for impairment loss.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attréiole to the acquisition of the
asset. The cost of self-constructed assets incliesost of materials and direct
labour, any other costs directly attributable tingng the assets to a working
condition for their intended use, the costs of distling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located, @pitalised borrowing costs.
Purchased software that is integral to the funetibnof the related equipment is
capitalized as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and eq@pnhave different useful lives,
they are accounted for as separate items (majopconemts) of property, plant and
equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of propg@ignt and equipment are
determined by comparing the proceeds from dispeghlthe carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment, and are recognie¢ahnthe statement of profit or
loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amouaoksded in the revaluation
reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group and the Comgabgtantially assume all the
risk and rewards of ownership are classified aanite leases. Property, plant and
equipment acquired by way of finance leases istakg®d at the lower of its fair
value and the present value of the minimum leagepats at the inception of the
lease, less accumulated depreciation and allowBmcenpairment losses. Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance aubtreduction of the lease
liability so as to achieve a constant rate of egéon the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance cost are recognized in the staat of profit or loss.
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3.9

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of propegiant and equipment is
recognized in the carrying amount of the item ifisitprobable that the future
economic benefits embodied within the part willwldo the Group and the
Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. CEneying amount of the
replaced part is derecognized. The costs of thetaldpy servicing of property,
plant and equipment are recognized in the stateofgnbfit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated based on the deprecahl@unt, which is the cost of an
asset, or other amount substituted for cost, tegesidual value.

Depreciation is recognized in the statement ofipasfloss on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of each componémnoitem of property, plant
and equipment. The estimated useful lives are las\fe:

Buildings and building improvements 5, 2Qears
Leasehold building improvements 5, 1Qears
Computer, tools and equipment 2 - Zpears
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 2 - pears
Communication equipment for rental Jears
Vehicles 5 years

No depreciation is provided on freehold land oretssinder construction and
installation.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residualeslare reviewed at each
financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

Assets under the Agreements for operations

Assets under the Agreements for operations repred®n cost of certain
equipment and other assets which have been or twav®e transferred to the
grantor of the Agreements of operations and anedtat cost less accumulated
depreciation, amortization and impairment losses.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization are based on the afote asset, or other amount
substituted for cost, less its residual value.

Depreciation and amortization are recognized instiagement of profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the estimated usefslifrom the date that assets are
available for use, since this most closely reflette expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits emlbdighe asset.
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3.10

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Mobile phone network digital system 10 years nateexiing the remaining
period of the Agreement for operations
Datanet tools and equipment 10 years not exced¢ldengemaining
period of the Agreement for operations
Computer system under the Agreement 5 years not exceeding the remaining
for operation of 1800-MHz operation period of the Agreement for operations

No amortization is provided on assets under coostnu of the assets under the
Agreements for operations.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residualueal are reviewed at each
financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of suiasids is included in intangible
assets. The measurement of goodwill at initial gedon is described in note 3.1
Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is me&sl at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. In respect of equity-accountegstees, the carrying amount
of goodwill is included in the carrying amount dfiet investment, and an
impairment loss on such an investment is not aléztdo any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amountloé equity-accounted investee.

Spectrum licenses

Spectrum licenses represent with its value measatré¢de cash equivalent price
based on the present value of the installments. ditfierence between the total
payment to be made and the cash equivalent pricec@ynized as finance cost
over the license fee payment period, with the bestg amortized starting on date
of the license effective.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by treugand the Company, which
have finite useful lives, are measured at cost éessimulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only whenciteases the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific asset to whiatelates. All other expenditure,
including expenditure on internally generated goitldand brands, is recognized
in the statement of profit or loss.
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3.11

Amortization

Amortization is based on the cost of the assabiloer amount substituted for cost,
less its residual value.

Amortization is recognized in the statement of praf loss on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of intangible assether than goodwill, from the
date that they are available for use, since thistmltwsely reflects the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic biénembodied in the asset.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Spectrum license Over the period of the license
Other intangible assets 5 and 10 years

No amortization is provided on advance payment.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residualueal are reviewed at each
financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

Other assets
Deferred charges

Deferred charges represent costs of long-term deakespace for base stations,
expenditures relating to the increase of powerleftacity at base stations and
expenditures relating to the improvement projeamnobile phone service network
and are stated at cost less accumulated amortizatid impairment losses.

Amortization

Amortization is based on the cost of the assabitogr amount substituted for cost,
less its residual value.

Amortization is recognized in the statement of prof loss on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of intangible assether than goodwill, from the
date that they are available for use, since thistrolmsely reflects the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic béneimbodied in the asset. The
estimated useful lives for the current and compagaderiods are as follows:

Costs of long-term leases for base stations Oweletlise agreement period

Expenditures relating to the increase of power of Over the remaining period of the
electricity at base stations Agreement of operation period

Operation right of the Datanet service 10 yearsemoeeding the remaining

period of the Agreement for operations
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3.12

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Comisaagsets are reviewed

at the end of the reporting period to determinetiwethere is any indication of

impairment. If any such indication exists, the &ssescoverable amounts are
estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets ti@ate indefinite useful lives or

are not yet available for use, the recoverable ainsuestimated each year at the
same time.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carryingoamt of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.impairment loss is recognized
in the statement of profit or loss.

When a decline in the fair value of an availabledale financial asset has been
recognized directly in equity and there is objextevidence that the value of the
asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had beeognized directly in equity is
recognized in the statement of profit or loss atilocomprehensive income even
though the financial asset has not been derecaynizbe amount of the
cumulative loss that is recognized in the statenménprofit or loss and other
comprehensive income is the difference betweeratgiisition cost and current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that finanasset previously recognized in
the statement of profit or loss.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of available-for-sale fima@nassets is calculated by
reference to the fair value.

The recoverable amount of a non-financial assttdgyreater of the assets’ value
in use and fair value less costs to sell. In agsgssmlue in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their presahierusing a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the Wiaue of money and the risks
specific to the asset. For an asset that does @¢rgte cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the reableeamount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of a financial agseteversed if the subsequent
increase in recoverable amount can be related tlgbcto an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognized in theestant of profit or loss.
For financial assets carried at amortized costeaaalable-for-sale financial assets
that are debt securities, the reversal is recognizehe statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. For availabledite-&§nancial assets that are
equity securities, the reversal is recognized & statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

-20 -



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3.13

3.14

3.15

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is noveesed. Impairment losses
recognized in prior periods in respect of other-financial assets are assessed at
the end of the reporting period for any indicatitimst the loss has decreased or no
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed dréhhas been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable am@&mtimpairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset's gagrgimount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, afe depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been reczaph

Interest-bearing liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognized inltiaht fair value less attributable
transaction charges. Subsequent to initial recmgnitinterest-bearing liabilities
are stated at amortized cost with any differencevéen cost and redemption
value being recognized in the statement of profitlass over the period of
the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost.
Employee benefits

Provident fund

The Group and the Company had provident funds wisiehdefined contribution
plan. The fund’s asset of the provident fund isasafed from the Group’s
and the Company’s asset and has been managed ibgnaeld fund manager.
The provident fund receives a cash contributiomfremployee and the related
Group and the Company. The contribution expenditafré¢he provident fund is
recognized as expense in the statement of prdfissras accrued.

Employee benefit obligations and long-term seraaard

The obligation in respect of post-employment bdadfiat provide compensation
according to labour law and long-term service avaasdrecognized in the financial
statements based on calculations by a qualifiedaagtusing the projected unit
credit method.

The Group and the Company recognized all actugaal and loss arising from
employee benefit obligations in other comprehensnemme and all expenses
related to employee benefit obligations in theestent of profit or loss.
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3.16

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an experntsenwhe Group and the
Company are committed demonstrably, without raalgbssibility of withdrawal,
to a formal detailed plan to either terminate emlent before the normal
retirement date, or to provide termination benedgsa result of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benéit voluntary redundancies
are recognized as an expense in the statemenofaf @rloss if the Group and the
Company have made an offer of voluntary redundaibey probable that the offer
will be accepted, and the number of acceptancesbearstimated reliably. If
benefits are payable more than 12 months afteetiteof the reporting period,
then they are discounted to their present value.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measore an undiscounted basis
and are recognized as an expense in the staterhpmfid or loss as the related
service is provided.

A liability is recognized for the amount expectedoe paid under short-term cash
bonus or profit sharing plans if the Group andGeepany have a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as altesf past service provided by
the employee, and the obligation can be estimatimbiy.

Share-based payments

The Group measured the expense of the Projectfeyeree to the fair value of
the equity instrument granted at the grant date.

The expense of the Project is recognized in theerstant of profit or loss from
operation corresponding to the increase in “shaset payment transaction” in
shareholders’ equity over the periods in whichdlerice conditions are fulfilled.

Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a pagtnt, the Group and Company
have a present legal or constructive obligation ¢tha be estimated reliably, and it
iIs probable that an outflow of economic benefitdl Wwe required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discountihe expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current madssessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. Thewinding of the discount is
recognised as finance cost.
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3.17 Recognition of revenue and expense

Revenue excludes value added tax and is arrivedftat deduction of trade
discounts and volume rebates.

Sale of goods and services rendered

Revenue from sale of goods is recognized in theersient of profit or loss when

the significant risks and rewards of ownership hlbgen transferred to the buyer.
No revenue is recognized if there is continuing aggment involvement with the

goods or there are significant uncertainties raggrcecovery of the consideration
due, associated costs or the probable return afsyoo

Service income is recognized in the statement ofitpor loss as services are
provided.

Revenue from mobile phone and call center servimes recognized in the
statement of profit or loss when services are resdlo customers.

Revenue from rendering voice/data communicatioast&iephone line network
services is recognized in the statement of profibss when service is rendered.

Rental income

Rental income from rental equipment is recognizedhe statement of profit or
loss and on a straight-line basis over the ternthef lease. Lease incentives
granted are recognized as an integral part ofofa tental income.

Service concession arrangements

Revenue relating to construction or upgrade sesvicgler a service concession
arrangement is recognized based on the stage oplebam of the work
performed. Operation or service revenue is recaghin the period in which
the services are provided by the Group and the @ommpWhen the Group and
the Company provide more than one service in ageooncession arrangement,
the consideration received is allocated by refezeiocthe relative fair values of
the services delivered.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized in the statement wffip or loss on the date
the Group’s and the Company’s right to receive paytsis established.
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3.18

3.19

Interest income

Interest income is recognized in the statementdafitpr loss and as it accrues.
Expense

Expense is recognized in the statement of profibgs and as it accrues.
Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borgswimwinding of the discount

on provisions and contingent consideration, lossedisposal of available-for-sale

financial assets, fair value losses on financialets at fair value through the
statement of profit or loss, impairment losses gaeed on financial assets (other
than trade receivables), and losses on hedginguments that are recognized in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprsivenincome.

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributatdéhe acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are recognizedhm statement of profit or loss
using the effective interest method.

Lease
Operating lease

Leases not transferring a significant portion & tisks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee are classified as operating leasssndhts made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from theolgsare charged to the statement
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over plegiod of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before thseleeriod expired, any
payment required to be made to the lessor by wayenhlty is recognized as an
expense in the period in which termination takesgl

Finance lease

Lease in which substantially all the risks and melsaof ownership other than legal
title are transferred to the Group and the Compsiagcounted for as a finance lease.
The Group and the Company capitalize the equipetehte lower of fair value of the
equipment at the contractual date or estimatecepraslue of the underlying lease
payments. The leased assets are depreciated hsistrdight-line method over their
estimated useful lives. Interest or financial clkagyrecognized by effective interest
rate method over the term of contracts. Intereginancial charge and depreciation
are recognized as expenses in the statement dfqriufss.
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3.20

Income tax

Income tax expense for the year comprises curnedtd@ferred tax. Current and
deferred tax are recognized in the statement ditpyoloss except to the extent
that they relate to a business combination, orstezoognized directly in equity or
in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or recévab the taxable income or loss
for the year, using tax rates enacted and any g to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of tempordifferences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for ficial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred taxois recognized for the
following temporary differences: the initial recagon of goodwill; the initial
recognition of assets or liabilittes in a transactithat is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting tagable profit or loss; and
differences relating to investments in subsidiat@she extent that it is probable
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable feitur

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the taseaguences that would follow
the manner in which the Group and the Company déxmdcthe end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carryimgount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates thaegpected to be applied to the
temporary differences when they adjust, using &®RS enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

In determining the amount of current and deferraed, the Group and the
Company take into account the impact of uncertai gositions and whether
additional taxes and interest may be due. The Gamaipthe Company believe that
its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate ftiragpen tax years based on its
assessment of many factors, including interpratatiof tax law and prior

experience. This assessment relies on estimateassothptions and may involve
a series of judgements about future events. Newrnmdtion may become

available that causes the Group and the Companghtmge its judgement
regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilitissch changes to tax liabilities
will impact tax expense in the period that suclegednination is made.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offsetidére is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax liabilities and assets, and thedgite to income taxes levied by
the same tax authority on the same taxable emtitpn different tax entities, but
they intend to settle current tax liabilities arsb@ts on a net basis or their tax
assets and liabilities will be realized simultarspu
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3.21

3.22

3.23

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the exteat ithis probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which tieenporary differences can be
utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at tite ad the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probale the related tax benefit will
be realized.

Earnings per share

The Group and the Company present basic and dikaedings per share (EPS)
data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is caledldty dividing the profit or loss

attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Graum the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstgnduring the period,

adjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS is detexthby adjusting the profit or
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and wieehted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shhedd, for the effects of all

dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprsenvertible notes and share
options granted to employees.

Segment reporting

Segment results that are reported to the Group'® QEhief Executive Officer)
include items directly attributable to a segmentwadl as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis.

Use of management’s judgement

The preparation of financial statements in conftymwith Thai Financial
Reporting Standards (“TFRSs”) also requires theu@ and the Company’s
management to exercise judgments in order to deterthe accounting policies,
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexdints of assets and liabilities,
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilétethe end of the reporting period
and the reported amounts of revenue and expensgdbe year. Although these
estimates are based on management’s reasonabidearatisn of current events,
actual results may differ from these estimates.

Significant judgements in applying accounting pekcare as follows:
The recognition cost of assets and depreciatioadet

Recognition of cost of assets incurred as parhefdarrying amount of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets endech whe management has
determined that the assets is in a working condifay their intended use of the
management. Moreover, the accounting policies déggrto depreciation methods
and estimated useful life of the asset requiresagament’s judgments to review
each financial year.
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3.24

Impairment

The Group shall assess the assets balance atatieensht of financial position
whether there is any indication that an asset mayinbpaired. If any such
indication exists, the Group shall estimate th@vecable amount of the asset and
shall also test an intangible asset.

Recognition of deferred tax assets associatedteutiosses carryforward

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the exteattiths probable that it will be
utilized in the future and the Company has assesiséd be probable that
the Company will generate taxable income suffictenfully utilize the tax losses
that exist.

Significant commercial disputes and litigations

Item required to use management judgement in povigestimation from
significant disputes and litigations because thieaue of litigations has not been
finalized.

Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received frealling an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betm market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that psicdirectly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Immeasing the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group and the Companyetakto account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if markmrticipants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the assdiability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclopurposes in these financial
statements is determined on such a basis.

In addition, fair value measurements are categora® Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair valuesneements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair valueasi@ement in its entirely, which
are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) tivaanarkets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can acceseaatmeasurement date.

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted pricekided within Level 1,
which are observable for the asset or liabilityhei directly or indirectly.

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for thetamskability.
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4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, todoass:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash on hand 56 6 2 2

Cash at bank - current accounts 34 607 811 8 81

Cash at bank - saving accounts 34 13,526 13,495 400 1070

14,189 14,312 410 1,153

Less Specifically-designated

bank deposits 5 (2,963) (4,447) - -

Total 11,226 9,865 410 1,153
The currencies denomination of cash and cash deuitgaas at December 31, are as
follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015

Thai Baht (THB) 10,638 9,709 251 1,051

US Dollar (USD) 477 153 157 100

Euro (EUR) 111 3 2 2
Total 11,226 9,865 410 1,153

As at December 31, 2016, the effective interest mt cash and cash equivalents are

0.04% - 1.66% per annum (2015: 0.04% - 1.50% peura).

SPECIFICALLY-DESIGNATED BANK DEPOSITS

In order to comply with the Notification of the Barof Thailand applicable to the
electronic cash card business, the subsidiaridd’deposits at call with banks equal to the
subsidiaries’ outstanding balance of advance redeftom customers which cannot be
used for other purposes apart from payments tacgepvoviders as at December 31, 2016
amounting to Baht 2,963 million (December 31, 2(B&ht 4,447 million).
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6. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Other investments as at December 31, are as fallows

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Current investments
Available-for-sale investments - 305 - -
- 305 - -
Other long-term investments
Fixed deposit at financial institutions -
pledged 11 11 - -
Other long-term investments 48 47 48 47
59 58 48 47
Total 59 363 48 47

Available-for-sale investments

As at December 31, 2015, the Group has investmkald through private funds,
managed by independent fund manager and bearsintate at 0.37% - 3.70 % per annum
(December 31, 2016: nil).

Movements of available-for-sale investments for ylears ended December 31, are as
follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated
financial statements

2016 2015
Current investments
Available-for-sale investments
As at January 1, 305 1,542
Increase during the years 3 1,155
Decrease during the years (308) (2,392)
As at December 31, - 305

Fixed deposits at financial institutions - pledged

As at December 31, 2016, the Group has fixed demdsiinancial institutions in the
amount of Baht 11.20 million (December 31, 2015ntBHL.20 million), which have been
pledged with a bank in respect of the contractisglance.
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Other long-term investments

On April 24, 2015, at the Annual General Meetingtlé Clearing House for Number
Portability Co., Ltd., the shareholders approve@ tppropriation of dividend of
Baht 10,000 per share to shareholders on July@5,2amounting to Baht 40 million and
Baht 20 million for the Group and the Company, esspely.

On September 29, 2016, the Company invested irmBrath Rak Samakee Thailand Co.,
Ltd., of 1,000 ordinary shares with a par valueBaht 1,000 per share, totalling Baht 1
million. Total shares invested represented 1.00%ev8hip. The objective of business is
to develop Thailand economic with the government.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables as at December 3hsdmlows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2016 2015 2016 2015
Trade receivables
Related parties: 34
Trade receivables 56 5 53 711
Accrued income 12 6 3 910
68 11 56 1,621
Other parties:
Trade receivables 6,773 5,973 211 842
Accrued income 5,903 6,074 1,580 1,639
12,676 12,047 1,791 2,481
Total trade receivables 12,744 12,058 1,847 4,102
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (1,367) (1,028) (122) (194)
Trade receivables - net 11,377 11,030 1,725 3,908
Other receivables
Prepaid expense 2,153 1,593 19 52
Account receivables - cash card/
refill on mobile 276 705 - -
Withholding tax receivable - 1,159 - 1,008
Value added tax receivable 223 1,694 - -
Others 87 207 125 514
Total other receivables 2,739 5,358 144 1,574
Total trade and other receivables 14,116 16,388 1,869 5,482
(Reversal of) bad and doubtful debts expense
for the year ended December 31 1,538 1,315 (2) -
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Aging analyzation for trade receivables are a®¥ad!:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Related parties
Current - within 3 months 67 11 56 1,621
Overdue 3 - 6 months 1 - - -
Overdue 6 - 12 months - - - -
Overdue over 12 months - - - -
68 11 56 1,621
Other parties
Current - within 3 months 10,125 9,610 2 461
Overdue 3 - 6 months 475 393 13 56
Overdue 6 - 12 months 300 131 54 88
Overdue over 12 months 1,776 1,913 1,722 1,876
12,676 12,047 1,791 2,481
Less Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,367) (1,028) (122) (194)
11,309 11,019 1,669 2,287
Trade receivables - net 11,377 11,030 1,725 3,908

The normal credit term granted by the Group ancCthrapany ranges from 14 days to 30 days.
The currencies denomination of trade receivableg 8ecember 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Thai Baht (THB) 10,745 10,970 1,712 3,899
United States Dollars (USD) 630 59 13 8
Euro (EUR) 2 1 - 1
Total 11,377 11,030 1,725 3,908

As at December 31, 2016, the Group and the Compamg the outstanding balance of
accrued income of revenue sharing in internatidimalt dial service (“IDD”) of Baht 1,584
million and Baht 1,574 million, respectively (Dedasgn 31, 2015: Baht 1,584 million and Baht
1,574 million, respectively). Part of that outstagds presented in overdue 12 months of Baht
1,584 million and Baht 1,574 million, respectivelpecember 31, 2015: Baht 1,573
million and Baht 1,564 million, respectively).

On January 16, 2013, the Company has submittedutéi to the Arbitration Institute
demanding TOT Public Company Limited (“TOT”) to p#ys receivable plus interest,
the total amount of Baht 1,527 million.

On November 26, 2013, Digital Phone Company Limitedubsidiary, has submitted a

dispute to the Central Administrative Court demagdCAT Public Company Limited
(“CAT”) to pay this receivable plus interest, tloéal amount of Baht 11 million.

-31-



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

8. INVENTORIES
Inventories as at December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Finished goods 3,529 4,831 - 2
Supplies and spare parts 46 602 - 15
Spare parts for mobile phone
network maintenance 677 478 383 440
4,252 5,911 383 457
Less allowance for obsolescence and
decline in value of inventory (1,167) (852) (382) (418)
Inventories - net 3,085 5,059 1 39

The Group and the Company recognized expensesprectof (reversal of) allowance for
obsolescence and decline in value of inventoryttieryear ended December 31, 2016 of
Baht 315 million and Baht (36) million, respectiydR015: Baht 207 million and Baht
(20) million, respectively).

9. INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A JOINT VENT URE

Movements in investment in an associate for thesyeaded December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated
financial statements

2016 2015
As at January 1, - -
Additional investments - 11
Share gain (loss) from investment in an associate 4 2 (1)
As at December 31, 24 -

On July 15, 2015, ABN made an additional payment/ta?% paid-up in share capital of
IH of Baht 10.88 million. The purpose of additionelid-up in share capital is for future
investment and ABN remains 29% of ownership.
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Movements in investment in a joint venture for ffear ended December 31, 2016 is as
follows: (2015: nil)

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated
financial statements
As at January 1, -

Additional investments 15
Share gain (loss) from investment in joint venture -
As at December 31, 15

The establishment of a joint venture

On October 20, 2015, at the Board of Directors’ timge the Board passed the resolution
to approve the establishment of a joint venture mamy between Advanced Broadband
Network Co., Ltd. ("ABN”), a subsidiary, and Amaorporation Public Company
Limited (“AMATA”) for 60% holding or 599,998 shargsotalling Baht 60 million to
develop infrastructure of fibre optic network in Ata Nakorn industrial estate hamed
Amata Network Co., Ltd. (“AN”"). ABN registered thacrease in the share capital on
November 30, 2016 (see Note 10).

On December 6, 2016, ABN invested in Amata Netw@Gu, Ltd. (“AN”), 599,998
shares by Baht 25 per share, totalling Baht 15ionillrepresenting 60% of ownership.
AN has not started the business operation in 2016.
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Investments in an associate and a joint ventui &ecember 31, and dividend income from thosesitmrents for the years then ended are as
follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements

% of Ownership interest  Paid-up capital Cost Equity Dividend income
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Associate
Information Highway Co., Ltd. 29 29 50 50 15 15 24 - - -
Joint venture
Amata Network Co., Ltd. 60 - 25 - 15 - 15 - - -

Summarized financial position in respect of an eisde and a joint venture and performance for trea yhen ended are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

0, - -
Reporting Y6 of . Current Non Total Current Non Total Total Total Profit/
Ownership current o current o
date . assets assets liabilities S liabilities revenues  expenses (loss)
interest assets liabilities

2016
Associate
Information Highway Co., Ltd. December 31 29 197 584 781 555 142 697 275 207 68
Joint venture
Amata Network Co., Ltd. December 31 60 25 - 25 1 - 1 - 1 (1)
2015
Associate
Information Highway Co., Ltd. December 31 29 132 500 632 247 370 617 159 175 (16)
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10. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Movements in investments in subsidiaries for theey@ended December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Separate
financial statements
2016 2015
As at January 1, 7,661 7,912
Increase in share capital of a subsidiary 60 14
Decrease in share capital of subsidiary - (75)
Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary - 0179
Liquidation of a subsidiary - (11)
As at December 31, 7,721 7,661

Increase in share capital of a subsidiary

On January 19, 2015, Advanced Broadband Network d. (“ABN”), a subsidiary,
registered the increase in the share capital framnt B million (10,000 ordinary shares,
Baht 100 par value) to Baht 15 million (150,000i0ady shares, Baht 100 par value) with
the Ministry of Commerce. The purpose of the capiterease is for future investment.
The Company paid for the increased shares by B@@tger share, totalling Baht 14
million and holds 99.99% of the issued share chpita

On November 30, 2016, ABN, a subsidiary, registdaredincrease in the share capital
from Baht 15 million (150,000 ordinary shares, Bah0 par value) to Baht 75 million
(750,000 ordinary shares, Baht 100 par value) \lign Ministry of Commerce. The
purpose of the capital increase is for investmerjbint venture. The Company paid for
the increased shares by Baht 100 per share, tgtdaht 60 million and holds 99.99% of
the issued share capital.

Decrease in share capital of a subsidiary

On January 12, 2015, the Company received retuanestapital of Advanced Internet
Revolution Co., Ltd. (“AIR”), a subsidiary, in amaiuof Baht 75 million.

Loss on impairment of investment in subsidiary

The Company recorded impairment loss on investrimeAidvanced Internet Revolution
Co., Ltd. (*AIR”), a subsidiary, for year ended [@eaber 31, 2015 of Baht 179 million
from the review of the carrying amount of AIR. Owrt@ber 19, 2015, AIR completed the
process of liquidation.
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Investments in subsidiaries as at December 31 atedd income from those investments for the ytaes ended, are as follows:

% of ownership interest

2016
Subsidiaries
Advanced Contact Center Co., Ltd. 99.99
Digital Phone Co., Ltd. 98.55
Advanced Magic Card Co., Ltd. 99.99
Advanced Mpay Co., Ltd. 99.99
AIN GlobalComm Co., Ltd. 99.99

Advanced Wireless Network Co., Ltd.  99.99
Super Broadband Network Co., Ltd. 99.99

Wireless Device Supply Co., Ltd. 99.99
Fax Lite Co., Ltd. 99.98
MIMO Tech Co., Ltd. 99.99

Advanced Broadband Network Co., Ltd. 99 99
Total

2015

99.99
98.55
99.99
99.99
99.99
99.99
99.99
99.99
99.98
99.99
99.99

Unit: Million Baht

Separate financial statements
Paid-up capital Cost Impairment Cost - net Dividend income
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

272 272 811 811 - - 811 811 273 184
3,655 3,655 12,493 12,493 (8,230 (8,230) 4,263 4,263 - -

250 250 250 250 - - 250 250 - 88

300 300 336 336 - - 336 336 591 538

100 100 100 100 - - 100 100 166 726

1,350 1,350 1,485 1,485 - - 1,485 1,485 23492 31,793

300 300 300 300 - - 300 300 - 1,176

50 50 50 50 - - 50 50 835 810

1 1 1 1 - - 1 1 1,465 933

50 50 50 50 - - 50 50 1,187 477
75 15 75 15 - - 75 15 - -

15,951 15,891 (8,230 (8,230) 7,721 7,661 28009 36,725
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment for years ended December 31, are as
follows:

As at December 31, 2016
Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements

Balance as at  Additions Disposals Transfer/ Balance as at
January 1, Other December 31,
2016 2016
Cost
Land 524 - - - 524
Building and building improvements 477 - (34) - 443
Leasehold building improvements 1,383 287 (92) 17 1,595
Computer, tools and equipment 99,805 45,683 (1,379) 7,361 151,470
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment 1,629 98 (526) 4 1,205
Communication equipment for
rental 8 - - - 8
Vehicles 237 9 (34) - 212
Total 104,063 46,077 (2,065) 7,382 155,457
Accumulated depreciation
Building and building improvements (420) (12) 34 - (398)
Leasehold building improvements (754) (193) 82 1 (864)
Computer, tools and equipment (30,506) (15,148) 1,358 - (44,296)
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment (1,397) (77) 523 (2) (952)
Communication equipment for
rental (4) - - - 4)
Vehicles (114) (35) 24 - (125)
Total (33,195) (15,465) 2,021 - (46,639)
Assets under construction and
installation 13,778 3,646 (6) (7,474) 9,944
Less Allowance for impairment (355) - - - (355)
Allowance for unused
equipment - (136) - - (136)
Property, plant and equipment 84,291 34,122 (50) (92) 118,271
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As at December 31, 2015
Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated financial statements

Balance as at  Additions Disposals Transfer/ Balance as at
January 1, Other December 31,
2015 2015
Cost
Land 524 - - - 524
Building and building improvements 493 - ) 9) 477
Leasehold building improvements 1,127 342 (85) (2) 1,383
Computer, tools and equipment 83,380 24,508 (15,535) 7,452 99,805
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment 1,615 117 (89) (14) 1,629
Communication equipment for
rental 8 - - - 8
Vehicles 239 63 (65) - 237
Total 87,386 25,030 (15,781) 7,428 104,063
Accumulated depreciation
Building and building improvements (417) (29) 7 9 (420)
Leasehold building improvements (668) (148) 62 - (754)
Computer, tools and equipment (36,090) (9,887) 15,486 (15) (30,506)
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment (1,437) (61) 89 12 (1,397)
Communication equipment for
rental (4) - - - 4)
Vehicles (131) (38) 55 - (114)
Total (38,747) (10,153) 15,699 6 (33,195)
Assets under construction and
installation 12,427 9,050 (98) (7,601) 13,778
Less Allowance for impairment (363) - 8 - (355)
Property, plant and equipment 60,703 23,927 (172) (167) 84,291

Depreciation for the years ended December 31,
2016 Million Baht 15,465

2015 Million Baht 10,153
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As at December 31, 2016

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

Balance as at  Additions Disposals Transfer/ Balance as at
January 1, Other December 31,
2016 2016
Cost
Building and building improvements 357 - (35) - 322
Leasehold building improvements 458 7 (118) 16 363
Computer, tools and equipment 5,886 2 (1,273) - ,615!
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment 1,178 5 (531) - 652
Vehicles 105 2 (24) - 83
Total 7,984 16 (1,981) 16 6,035
Accumulated depreciation
Building and building improvements (345) (8) 35 - (318)
Leasehold building improvements (380) (20) 91 - (309)
Computer, tools and equipment (5,623) (63) 1,262 - (4,424)
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment (2,123) (20) 529 - (614)
Vehicles (50) (16) 18 - (48)
Total (7,521) (127) 1,935 - (5,713)
Assets under construction and
installation 37 - (6) (16) 15
Property, plant and equipment 500 (111) (52) - 337

As at December 31, 2015

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

Balance as at Additions Disposals Transfer/  Balance as at
January 1, Other December 31,
2015 2015
Cost
Building and building improvements 372 - (6) 9) 357
Leasehold building improvements 573 57 172) - 458
Computer, tools and equipment 21,898 16 (16,074) 46 5,886
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment 1,201 24 47 - 1,178
Vehicles 152 30 (77) - 105
Total 24,196 127 (16,376) 37 7,984
Accumulated depreciation
Building and building improvements (346) (14) 6 9 (345)
Leasehold building improvements (421) (38) 79 - (380)
Computer, tools and equipment (21,194) (196) 15,771 4) (5,623)
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment (1,140) (22) 38 - (1,123)
Vehicles (87) (20) 57 - (50)
Total (23,188) (289) 15,951 5 (7,521)
Assets under construction and
installation 95 - (13) (45) 37
Property, plant and equipment 1,103 (162) (438) (3) 500
Depreciation for the years ended December 31,
2016 Million Baht 127
2015 Million Baht 289
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12. ASSETS UNDER THE AGREEMENTS FOR OPERATIONS

Movements in assets under the Agreements for opesaor the years ended December 31,
are as follows:

As at December 31, 2016

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statement
Balance as ¢ Additions Disposals Transfer/ Transferto Balance as ¢

January 1, Other TOT December31,
201¢ 201¢
Cosl
Cost of datanet tools and
equipmer 1,24¢ - - - - 1,24¢
Total 1,24¢ - - - - 1,24¢
Accumulated depreciation
and amortization
Cost of datanet tools and
equipmer (1,03¢) - - - - (1,038
Total (1,038 - - - - (1,039
Les: Allowance for impairmet (210 - - - - (210

Assets under th Agreement:
for operations - - - - - -

As at December 31, 2015

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statement
Balance as ¢ Additions Disposals Transfer/ Transferto Balance as ¢

January 1, Other TOT December31,
201t 201t
Cosl
Cost of mobile phone
network 14E,42¢ 67¢€ (21,721) (32) (124,347) -
Cost of datanet tools and
equipmer 1,24¢ - - - - 1,24¢€
Total 14€,671 67¢€ (21,721) (31 (124,347) 1,24¢
Accumulated depreciation
and amortization
Cost of mobile phone
network (137,320) (8,60€) 21,55¢ 21 124,347 -
Cost of datanet tools and
equipmer (1,038 - - - - (1,039
Total (13€,35¢) (8,60€) 21,55¢ 21 124,347 (1,03¢)

Advance payment and assets
under construction of mobile

phone network 63E (612) - (23) - -
Les: Allowance for impairmet (210 - - - - (210
Assets under th Agreement:

for operations 8,73¢ (8,542 (163) (33 - -
Depreciation and émortization for the years ended Decembe31, 201¢ Million Baht 8,60¢€

(201¢€: nil)

The gross amount of the Group’s fully amortizedetssunder the Agreements for
operations that was still in use as at DecembeRB815 amounted to Baht 1,248 million
(December 31, 2016: nil).
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13.

As at December 31, 2015

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

Balance as at Additions Disposals Transfer/ Transferto Balance as at

January 1, Other TOT December 31,
2015 2015
Cost
Cost of mobile phone
networks 145,423 676 (21,721) (31) (124,347) -
Total 145,423 676 (21,721) (31) (124,347) -
Accumulated depreciation
and amortization
Cost of mobile phone
networks (137,320)  (8,606) 21,558 21 124,347 -
Total (137,320) (8,606) 21,558 21 124,347 -
Advance payment and assets
under construction of mobile
phone networks 635 (612) - (23) - -
Assets under the Agreements
for operations 8,738 (8,542) (163) (33) - -
Depreciation and amortization for the years ended Bcember 31, 2015 Million Baht 8,606
(201¢€: nil)

As part of assets under the Agreement for opesaaon 13,198 towers that the Company has
transferred to TOT Public Company Limited. There &52 towers and 115 containers that
Digital Phone Company Limited, a subsidiary, hamngferred to CAT Public Company
Limited. The Group has an opinion that the towerd @e containers are not the tools and
equipment specified under the Agreement. Theretbee,Group shall not be obligated to
transfer the towers and the containers. The Gragadiso submitted the disputes to the
Dispute Reconciliation, the Court of Justice ofues} the Arbitral Tribunal to give an award
that the said assets are not the property asatgouih the Agreement in July 2014.

GOODWILL

Movements in goodwill for the years ended Decenierare as follows:

Cost
As at January 1,
As at December 31,

Accumulated amortization
As at January 1,

As at December 31,
Allowance for impairment
Total

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated
financial statements

2016 2015
14,352 14,352
14,352 14,352
(7,662) (7,662)
(7,662) (7,662)
(6,655) (6,655)

35 35
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14. SPECTRUM LICENSES

Movements in spectrum licenses for the years ebe@mber 31, are as follows:

As at December 31, 2016

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statemers

Balance as ¢ Additions Balance as a
January 1, December3l,
201¢ 201¢
Cosl
Spectrum license 55,01C 69,132 124,142
Total 55,010 69,132 124,142
Accumulated Amortization
Spectrunlicense (3,219 (5,54%) (8,764
Total (3,219 (5,545) (8,764)
Spectrumlicense: 51,791 63,587 11E,37¢

As at December 31, 2015

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statemers

Balance as ¢ Additions Balance as ai
January 1, December31,
201¢ 201¢
Cosl
Spectrum licens: 14,644 40,36€ 55,01C
Total 14,644 40,36€ 55,01C
Accumulated Amortization
Spectrurrlicense: (2,019 (1,200 (3,219
Total (2,019 (1,200 (3,219
Spectrum license: 12,625 39,16€ 51,791
Amortization for the years ended Decembe31,
201¢ Million Baht 5,64k
201t Million Baht 1,20C

On October 16, 2012, Advanced Wireless Network Cal, (‘“AWN?”), a subsidiary, was
the auction winner for 2.1 GHz license (3G) at ldding price of Baht 14,625 million.
On December 7, 2012, AWN was officially granted libense to operate 2.1 GHz (3G) for
15 years from the National Broadcasting and Tel@sonications Commission (“NBTC”).
According to the auction terms and conditions, AY&id 50% of the fee plus VAT, totalling
Baht 7,824 million on October 19, 2012 and submhiiank guarantee to pay the remaining
fee to the NBTC. Another 25% was paid in the seg@at on December 22, 2014, and the
remaining was paid in the third year on DecembeRQ25.

On November 17, 2015, AWN was the auction winnar 800 MHz license at the

bidding price of Baht 40,986 million. AWN was ofitidly granted the license to operate
1800 MHz from the National Broadcasting and Telecamications Commission

(“NBTC"). According to the auction terms and camolis, AWN paid 50% of the fee

plus VAT, totalling Baht 21,928 million on Novembé&B, 2015 and submitted bank
guarantee to pay the remaining fee to the NBTC.the1025% will be paid in the second
year, and the remaining will be paid in the thiegy
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On May 27, 2016, AWN was the auction winner for 90dz license at the bidding price
of Baht 75,654 million. AWN was officially grantetle license to operate 900 MHz from
the National Broadcasting and Telecommunicationm@assion (“NBTC”). According
to the auction terms and conditions, AWN paid 11%the fee plus VAT, totalling Baht
8,603 million on June 28, 2016 and submitted barkantee to pay the remaining fee to
the NBTC. Another payment will be paid in the setgmar and the third year by 5%
each year, and the remaining will be paid in thetfoyear.

The cost of spectrum licenses are initial recognitby measuring at the cash equivalent
price based on the present value of its acquisdast.

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Movements in other intangible assets for the yeaded December 31, are as follows:

As at December 31, 2016

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated financial statements

Balance as at  Additions Disposals Transfer/ Balance as at
January 1, Other December 31,
2016 2016
Cost
Software licenses 5,804 1,310 (25) 117 7,206
Total 5,804 1,310 (25) 117 7,206
Accumulated amortization
Software licenses (2,694) (658) 25 - (3,327)
Total (2,694) (658) 25 - (3,327)
Assets under installation 82 163 (25) 220
Other intangible assets 3,192 815 92 4,099

As at December 31, 2015

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated financial statements

Balance as at  Additions Disposals Transfer/ Balance as at
January 1, Other December 31,
2015 2015
Cost
Software licenses 4,61¢€ 1,143 (2) 45 5,804
Total 461¢ 1,143 (2) 45 5,804
Accumulated amortization
Software licenses (2,152) (536) (6) (2,694)
Total (2,152) (536) (6) (2,694)
Assets under installation 38 67 (23) 82
Other intangible assets 2,504 674 (2) 16 3,192
Amortization for the years ended December 31,
2016 Million Baht 658
2015 Million Baht 536
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As at December 31, 2016

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

Balance as at  Additions Disposals Transfer/ Balance as at
January 1, Other December 31,
2016 2016
Cost
Software licenses 480 - (25) - 455
Total 480 - (25) - 455
Accumulated amortization
Software licenses (408) (25) 25 - (408)
Total (408) (25) 25 - (408)
Other intangible assets 72 (25) - - 47

As at December 31, 2015
Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

Balance as at  Additions Disposals Transfer/ Balance as at
January 1, Other December 31,
2015 2015
Cost
Software licenses 474 - (2) 8 480
Total 474 - (2) 8 480
Accumulated amortization
Software licenses (362) (41) - (5) (408)
Total (362) (41) - (5) (408)
Other intangible assets 112 (41) (2) 3 72

Amortization for the years ended December 31,
2016 Million Baht 25

2015 Million Baht 41

16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Deferred tax assets and liabilities as at Decer@bgeare as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Deferred tax assets 2,639 1,273 875 86
Deferred tax liabilities (21) (22) (7) (21)
Deferred tax - net 2,618 1,252 868 65
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Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilitiestlie years ended December 31, are as

follows:

As at December 31, 2016

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated financial statements

(Charged)/credited to
Balance as at Profit Other Balance as at
January 1, or loss comprehensive  December 31,
2016 income 2016
Deferred tax assets
Trade receivables (doubtful accounts) 165 77 - 242
Inventories (allowance for obsolescence and
decline in value) 36 115 - 151
Unearned income - mobile phone service
(income recognized difference) 390 9 - 399
Accrued expense - 410 - 410
Employee benefit obligations 461 67 - 528
Loss carry forward - 400 - 400
Others 221 288 - 509
Total 1,273 1,366 - 2,639
Deferred tax liabilities
Others (21) - - (21)
Total (21) - - (21)
Deferred tax - net 1,252 1,366 - 2,618

As at December 31, 2015

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated financial statements

(Charged)/credited to
Balance as at Profit Other Balance as at
January 1, or loss comprehensive December 31,
2015 income 2015

Deferred tax assets
Trade receivables (doubtful accounts) 186 (22) - 165
Inventories (allowance for obsolescence and

decline in value) 114 (78) - 36
Assets under the Agreements for operations

(amortization difference) 355 (355) - -
Unearned income - mobile phone service

(income recognized difference) 394 4) - 390
Employee benefit obligations 302 30 129 461
Others 158 63 - 221
Total 1,509 (365) 129 1,273
Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid revenue sharing expense

(expense recognized difference) (27) 27 - -
Others (40) 19 - (21)
Total (67) 46 - (21)
Deferred tax - net 1,442 (319) 129 1,252
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As at December 31, 2016

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

(Charged)/credited to
Balance as at Profit Other Balance as at
January 1, or loss comprehensive  December 31,
2016 income 2016

Deferred tax assets
Accrued expense - 410 - 410
Employee benefit obligations 86 (21) - 65
Loss carryforward - 400 - 400
Total 86 789 - 875
Deferred tax liabilities
Others (21) 14 - (7)
Total (21) 14 - (7)
Deferred tax - net 65 803 - 868

As at December 31, 2015

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

(Charged)/credited to
Balance as at Profit Other Balance as at
January 1, or loss comprehensive December 31,
2015 income 2015
Deferred tax assets
Trade receivables (doubtful accounts) 41 (412) - -
Inventories (allowance for obsolescense and
decline in value) 88 (88) - -
Assets under the Agreements for operations
(amortization difference) 355 (355) - -
Unearned income - mobile phone service
(income recognized difference) 122 (222) - -
Employee benefit obligations 82 7 3) 86
Others a7 (47) - -
Total 735 (646) (3) 86
Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid revenue sharing expense
(expense recognized difference) 27) 27 - -
Others (40) 19 - (21)
Total (67) 46 - (21)
Deferred tax - net 668 (600) (3) 65
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17.

Deferred tax assets arising from significant terapprdifferences and unused loss
carryforward that have not been recognized in ithential statements as at December 31,
are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Loss carryforward 385 1,410 - 1,022
Impairment loss on investments - - 1,649 1,649
Accrued expense of the Agreements for
operations - 238 - -
Others 107 - 101 -
Total 492 1,648 1,750 2,671

As at December 31, 2015, the Group and the Compewe not recognized loss

carryforward expired in 2017-2020 and no maturg@snporary differences under current
tax legalisation recognized in respect of thesmstéecause it is not probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which tBeoup and the Company can utilise the
benefits therefrom.

As at December 31, 2016, the Group and the Compang recognized deferred tax
assets in respect of loss carryforward in partabant and full amount, respectively,
because it is probable that future taxable proiiit e available against which the Group
and the Company can utilize the benefits therefrom.

INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing liabilities as at December 31 aaréollows:
Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015
Current
Short-term loans from financial institutions 9,200 8,500 5,700 7,700
Current portion of long-term liabilities

- Current portion of long-term borrowings 2,041 4,314 2,041 4,314

- Current portion of long-term debentures 34 397 - - -

- Current portion of finance lease liabilities 34 47 41 12 13
Total current portion of long-term liabilities 485 4,355 2,053 4,327
Short-term loans from related parties 34 - - 6,440 6,490

11,685 12,855 14,193 18,517
Non-current
Long-term liabilities

- Long-term borrowings 55,962 35,836 3,314 9,369

- Long-term debentures 34 31,168 16,580 - -

- Finance lease liabilities 34 143 161 31 44

87,273 52,577 3,345 9,413
Total 98,958 65,432 17,538 27,930
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The periods to maturity of interest-bearing lig®k, excluding finance lease liabilities as
at December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Within one year 11,638 12,814 14,181 18,504
After one year but within five years 50,245 30,536 3,314 9,369
After five years 36,885 21,880 - -
Total 98,768 65,230 17,495 27,873

The currencies denomination of interest-bearingilli;es as at December 31, are as

follows:
Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Thai Baht (THB) 92,920 55,715 12,180 18,213
US Dollar (USD) 6,038 9,717 5,358 9,717
Total 98,958 65,432 17,538 27,930
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Long-term borrowings

The details of long-term borrowings as at Decendiermre summarized as follows:

Outstanding loan Interest rate
in foreign currency (per annum)
2016 2015

(Million)

Advanced Info Service Public Company Limited
USD 21.32 USD 35.54 LIBOR plus margin

- USD 62.50 LIBOR plus margin
USD 42.50 USD 85.00 LIBOR plus margin
USD 85.00 USD 85.00 LIBOR plus margin

Fixed interest rate as

stipulated in the
- - agreement

Term of Principal payment term
interest
payment

Semi-annuak0 equal installments from
2008 to 2018

Semi-annual 2 eduostaliments in 2015
and 2016

Semi-annual egdal installments in 2016
and 2017

Semi-annual ntirély redeemed in 2018

Semi-annual Entirely redeemed in 2018
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Outstanding loan
in foreign currency
2016 2015

(Million)

Interest rate
(per annum)

Advanced Wireless Network Co., Ltd.

USD 18.89 -
Total loans

Less transaction cost
Long-term borrowings

Fixed interest rate as
stipulated in the
agreement
6MTHBFIX plus margin
Fixed interest rate as
stipulated in the
agreement
6MTHBFIX plus margin

6MBIBOR plus margin
6MBIBOR plus margin
6MTHBFIX plus margin

6MLIBOR plus margin

Unit: Million Baht

Term of Principal payment term Consolidated Separate
interest financialstatements financial statements
payment 2016 2015 2016 2015
Semi-annual 4 equal installments from
2019 to 2021
5,000 5,000 - -
Semi-annual 2 equal inktants in 2020 12,300 12,300 - -
Semi-annual 7 equal installments from
2019 to 2022
5,000 5,000 - -
Semi-annual  Entirely redesd in 2020 4,200 4,200 - -
Semi-annual 6 equal instalhts from
2020 to 2023 14,000 - - -
Semi-annual 5 equal instalhts from
2019 to 2023 7,000 - - -
Semi-annual 6 equal inktants from
2021 to 2023 4,500 - - -
Semi-annual 2 eqaosfallments from 2022 680 - - -
58,038 40,217 5,358 13,717
(39 (67 3) (34)
58,003 40,150 5,355 13,683
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Long-term debentures

As at December 31, the Group’s long-term debent@e®esent unsubordinated and unsecured debemtitines par value of Baht 1,000 each
are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Issue date No. of units ~ Amount Interest rate Term of Principal payment Consolidated Separate
(Share) (per annum) interest term financiabtatements financial statements
payment 2016 2015 2016 2015
Advanced Wireless Network Co., Ltd.
11 April 2014 0.39 397 Fixed interest rate Semi-annual Entirely redeemed on
of 3.39% April 11, 2017 397 397 - -
11 April 2014 7.79 7,789 Fixed interest rate Semi-annual Entirely redeemed on
of 4.17% April 11, 2019 7,789 7,789 - -
11 April 2014 1.78 1,776 Fixed interest rate Semi-annual Entirely redeemed on
of 4.56% April 11, 2021 1,776 1,776 - -
11 April 2014 6.64 6,638 Fixed interest rate Semi-annual Entirely redeemed on
of 4.94% April 11, 2024 6,638 6,638 - -
11 May 2016 7.82 7,820 Fixed interest rate Semi-annual Entirely redeemed on
of 2.51% May 11, 2023 7,820 - - -
11 May 2016 7.18 7,180 Fixed interest rate Semi-annual Entirely redeemed on
of 2.78% May 11, 2026 7,180 - - -
Total debentures 31,600 16,600 - -
Less bond issuing cost (35) (20) - -
Long-term debentures 31,565 16,580 - -
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Under the terms and conditions of the long-ternrdwings and debentures, the Group
has to comply with certain restrictions and maimtzrtain financial ratios.

As at December 31, 2016, the Group has undrawn c¢edrioans amounting to Baht
6,000 million, USD 38 million and as at December 2015 the Group has undrawn
committed loans amounting to Baht 32,000 milliongd ahe Company has no undrawn
committed loans.

The carrying amount and fair values of long-terrbatdgures (gross of issue costs) as at
December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements

Carrying amount Fair values*
2016 2015 2016 2015
Long-term debentures 31,600 16,600 32,082 17,958

* Fair values for traded debentures have been méated based on quoted selling prices
from The Thai Bond Market Association at the cladethe business at the end of
reporting the reporting period.

Movement of interest-bearing liabilities for theaye ended December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2016 2015 2016 2015
As at January 1, 65,432 37,0560 27,930 15,430
Additions 80,169 46,329 14,523 31,116
Borrowing cost (5) (32) - -
Bond issuing cost (20) - - -
Repayments (46,026) (18,635) (24,286) (19,315)
Terminate finance lease

liabilities cost - - - a7

Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign exchange (634) 3 69 (660) 693
Amortization as expense 42 27 31 23
As at December 31, 98,958 65,432 17,538 27,930
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The effective weighted interest rates as at Decebeare as follows:

Short-term borrowings
Long-term borrowings
Long-term debentures
Finance lease liabilities

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated
financial statements

2016 2015
1.63 1.64
2.60 2.97
3.62 4.50
5.79 5.59

Trade and other payables as at December 31, fodags:

Trade payables
Related parties
Other parties

Total - trade payables

Other payables
Accrued expenses

Valued added tax payable
Withholding tax payable

Others
Total - other payables

Total trade and other payables

Unit: Percent per annum
Separate
financial statements
2016 2015

1.62 1.64
2.58 3.25

4.81 4.84

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015
34 300 323 219 264
17,437 14,035 38 279
17,737 14,358 257 543
34 15,700 12,668 2,814 2,527
171 154 8 79
262 280 5 45
34 422 291 2 282
16,555 13,393 2,829 2,933
34,292 27,751 3,086 3,476

The currencies denomination of trade payables Beet¢mber 31, are as follows:

Thai Baht (THB)

US Dollar (USD)

Euro (EUR)

Yen (JPY)

Singapore Dollar (SGD)
Total

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
12,278 10,525 222 372

5,438 3,611 15 108
1 56 1 58
1 166 - 5
19 - 19 -
17,737 14,358 257 543
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19. SPECTRUM LICENSES PAYABLE

Spectrum licenses payable as at December 31, &ndass:

Spectrum licenses payable

License certificate no. NBTC/FREQ/TEL/55/1
(Addendum no.1)

License certificate no. NBTC/FREQ/TEL/55/1
(Addendum no.2)

Less current portion of spectrum licenses payable
Spectrum licenses payable

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated
financial statements

2016 2015
19,790 19,902
62,407 -
82,197 19,902

(10,017) -
72,180 19,902

Movements in spectrum licenses payable for thesyeraded December 31, are as follows:

As at January 1,

Addition

Payments

Amortization of deferred interest expense
As at December 31,

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated
financial statements

2016 2015
19,902 3,656
69,113 40,346
(8,040) (24,149)

1,222 49
82,197 19,902

The Group and the Company have an employee behdfation based on the requirement
of Thai Labour Protection Act B.E. 2541 (1998) tovade retirement benefits to employees
based on pensionable remuneration and lengthww€send long - term service awards.

The defined benefit plans expose the Group andCtirapany to actuarial risks, such as
longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate riskdamarket (investment) risk.

Obligations under the statements of financial pasias at December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Present value of obligations 2,294 327 431
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Movements in the present value of the employee fliestdigations for the years ended
December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015

Employee benefit obligations as at January 1, 2,294 1,500 431 406

Current service costs and interest 293 172 38 51

Benefits paid (32) (15) (29) (4)

Transfer employee to subsidiaries - - (113) (8)
Actuarial (gains) losses from employee benefit

obligations - 637 - (14)

Employee benefit obligations as at December 31, 2,555 2,294 327 431

Expense recognized in the statement of profit es lor the years ended December 31,
are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Current service costs 214 114 28 35
Interest on obligations 79 58 10 16
Total 293 172 38 51

The Group and the Company recognized the expensieeifollowing line items in the
statement of profit or loss for the years endedeDdwer 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Cost of rendering of services and
equipment rental 20 9 - -
Administrative expenses 193 104 27 34
Management benefit expenses 1 1 1 1
Finance costs 79 58 10 16
Total 293 172 38 51

-55-



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Actuarial (gains) losses from employee benefit gdiions recognized in other
comprehensive income in the statement of profloss and other comprehensive income

for the years ended December 31, are as follows:
Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Included in retained earnings :
At January 1, 1,360 723 403 417
Recognized during the year - 637 - (14)
As at December 31, 1,360 1,360 403 403

Actuarial (gains) losses recognized in the statemen profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the years ended Deceniherr& arising from:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Financial assumptions - 439 - 64
Demographic assumptions - (23) - (12)
Experience adjustment - 221 - (66)
Total - 637 - (14)
Principal actuarial assumptions at the end of @pmiting period (expressed as weighted
averages):
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Discount rate 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%
9% 9% 9% 9%

Future salary increases

Assumptions regarding future mortality are basedpahlished statistics and Thailand
Mortality Ordinary Life table 2008 (“TMO08").
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21.

Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the end of thetimgpqreriod to one of the relevant
actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptionsstent, would have affected the
defined benefit obligations as at December 31 heyamounts shown below.

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015

Discount rate
- Increase 1% (375) (338) (51) (49)
- Decrease 1% 459 414 61 58
Future salary growth
- Increase 1% 427 385 57 54
- Decrease 1% (359) (323) (49) 47

Although the analysis does not take account ofuhelistribution of cash flows expected
under the plan, it does provide an approximaticth@fsensitivity of the assumptions shown.
SHARE CAPITAL

Movements of share capital for the years ended mbee 31, are as follows:

(Million shares/million Baht)

Par value 2016 2015

per share Number Number

(in Baht) of share Amount of share Amount
Authorized
As at January 1,
- ordinary shares 1.00 4,997 4,997 4,997 4,997
As at December 31,
- ordinary shares 1.00 4,997 4,997 4,997 4,997
Issued and paid-up
As at January 1,
- ordinary shares 1.00 2,973 2,973 2,973 2,973
As at December 31,
- ordinary shares 1.00 2,973 2,973 2,973 2,973

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the total issuedber of ordinary shares is 2,973
million shares with a par value of Baht 1.00 parshAll issued shares are fully paid.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled toivecdividends as declared from time to
time, and are entitled to one vote per share atingseof the Company.
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22.

23.

Share premium

According to the Public Companies Act B.E. 2535t®a 51 requires companies to set
aside share subscription monies received in exafetse par value of the shares issued to
a reserve account (“share premium”). Share premisinmot available for dividend
distribution.

LEGAL RESERVE

According to the Public Companies Act B.E. 2535tisen 116 requires that a public
company shall allocate not less than 5% of its ahmet profit, less any accumulated
losses brought forward (if any), to a reserve antd@tiegal reserve”), until this account
reaches an amount not less than 10% of the registauthorized capital. The legal
reserve is not available for dividend distribution.

OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY
Share-based payment
The performance share plan

Grant |

In March 2013, the Annual General Meeting of shaledrs No.1/2013 approved to issue
warrants to purchase the ordinary shares of thepdoyn The warrants are offered to
employees of the Company and its subsidiariesudg the board of directors of the
Company, who are qualified to the Performance spke (‘ESOP-Grant I”). The major

information is listed below:

Approved date: March 27, 2013

Number of warrants offered: 405,800 Units

Exercise price: 206.672 Baht/share

Number of reserved shares: 405,800 Shares

Term of the Project: 5 years from the date of ahitiffer of the warrants
Offered price per unit: Baht O (zero Baht)

Exercise ratio: 1 unit of warrant per 1 ordinarargh
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Grant Il

In March 2014, the Annual General Meeting of shaldgrs No.1/2014 approved to issue
warrants to purchase the ordinary shares of thep@oyn The warrants are offered to
employees of the Company and its subsidiariesudimal) the board of directors of the
Company, who are qualified to the Performance sphkme (‘ESOP-Grant II”). The major
information is listed below:

Approved date: March 26, 2014
Number of warrants offered: 680,000 Units
Exercise price: 211.816 Baht/share
Number of reserved shares: 680,000 Shares
Term of the Project: 5 years from the date of ahitiffer of the warrants
Offered price per unit: Baht O (zero Baht)
Exercise ratio: 1 unit of warrant per 1 ordinarpigh
Grant Il

In March 2015, the Annual General Meeting of shaledrs No.1/2015 approved to issue
warrants to purchase the ordinary shares of thep@ogyn The warrants are offered to
employees of the Company and its subsidiariesudng the board of directors of the
Company, who are qualified to the Performance spke (“ESOP-Grant 11I"). The major
information is listed below:

Approved date: March 24, 2015

Number of warrants offered: 872,200 Units

Exercise price: 249.938 Baht/share

Number of reserved shares: 872,200 Shares

Term of the Project: 5 years from the date of ahitiffer of the warrants
Offered price per unit: Baht O (zero Baht)

Exercise ratio: 1 unit of warrant per 1 ordinargargh

Offer period: Within one year from the date on whibe issuance

and offer of the warrant under the program is aypgao
by the 2015 Annual General Meeting of shareholders
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Grant IV

In March 2016, the Annual General Meeting of shalddrs No.1/2016 approved to issue
warrants to purchase the ordinary shares of thep@oy The warrants are offered to
employees of the Company and its subsidiariesudir) the board of directors of the
Company, who are qualified to the Performance spine (‘ESOP-Grant IV”). The major
information is listed below:

Approved date: March 29, 2016

Number of warrants offered: 826,900 Units

Exercise price: 166.588 Baht/share

Number of reserved shares: 826,900 Shares

Term of the Project: 5 years from the date of ahitiffer of the warrants
Offered price per unit: Baht O (zero Baht)

Exercise ratio: 1 unit of warrant per 1 ordinargigh

Offer period: Within one year from the date on whibe issuance

and offer of the warrant under the program is apgdo
by the 2016 Annual General Meeting of shareholders

Movements in the number of outstanding warrantsar®llows:

As at Transaction during the year As at
January 1, December 31,
2016 Issued Exercised Forfeited Returned 2016
(in units) (inunits)  (in units)  (in units)  (in units) (in units)
ESOP - Grant |
- Directors 19,824 - - - (19,824) -
- Employees 352,476 - - - (352,476) -
372,300 - - - (372,300) -
ESOP - Grant Il
- Directors 29,816 - - - - 29,816
- Employees 611,768 - - (33,636) - 578,132
641,584 - - (33,636) - 607,948
ESOP - Grant 11l
- Directors 51,600 - - - - 51,600
- Employees 725,716 - - (39,366) - 686,350
777,316 - - (39,366) - 737,950
ESOP - Grant IV
- Directors - 56,800 - - - 56,800
- Employees - 653,900 - (5,200) - 648,700
- 710,700 - (5,200) - 705,500
Total 1,791,200 710,700 - (78,202) (372,300) 2,051,398
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Fair value measurement

The Group and the Company measured the expense #frbject by reference to the fair
value of the equity instrument granted at the gdaté using the Monte Carlo Simulation
technique. The major assumptions are as below:

Grant |

Weighted average fair value at the grant date
Share price at the grant date

Exercise price

Expected volatility

Expected dividend

Risk-free interest rate

Grant Il

Weighted average fair value at the grant date
Share price at the grant date

Exercise price

Expected volatility

Expected dividend

Risk-free interest rate

Grant I

Weighted average fair value at the grant date
Share price at the grant date

Exercise price

Expected volatility

Expected dividend

Risk-free interest rate

Grant IV

Weighted average fair value at the grant date
Share price at the grant date

Exercise price

Expected volatility

Expected dividend

Risk-free interest rate

B8B3Bhht/share
262.000 Baht/share
206.672 Baht/share
23.51%
4.16%
3.07%

101B&aht/share
240.000 Baht/share
211.816 Baht/share
25.15%
5.00%
3.08%

g2BHnht/share
236.000 Baht/share
249.938 Baht/share
22.99%
5.28%
2.34%

@/Baht/share
165.000 Baht/share
166.588 Baht/share
27.70%
8.48%
1.72%

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Grouphen€ompany recognized share-
based payment expense at Baht 35 million and B&hmalion, respectively, in the
consolidated and separate financial statementsi{Eorear ended December 31, 2015: Baht
31 million and Baht 31 million, respectively).
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24,

Unrealized gain on dilution of investment

The unrealized gain on dilution of investment coisgs the cumulative net change in
portion of investment until the investment is sotdbtherwise disposed.

Fair value changes in available-for-sale investmest

The fair value changes in available-for-sale inwesits account within equity comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of lade-for-sale investments until the
investments are derecognized or impaired.

SEGMENT FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group has three reportable segments, as deddoélow, which are the Group’s
strategic divisions. The strategic divisions oftififerent products and services, and are
managed separately because they require diffeeehhblogy and marketing strategies.
For each of the strategic divisions, the Chief Exiee Officer (CEO) reviews internal
management reports on at least a quarterly bakes.fdllowing summary describes the
operations in each of the Group and the Compaeyertable segments.

Segment 1 Mobile phone and call center services
Segment 2 Mobile phone sales
Segment 3 Datanet and broadband services

Information regarding the results of each repogakkegment is included below.

Performance is measured based on segment profitebtfx, as included in the internal
management reports that are reviewed by the Grd@R®. Segment profit before tax is

used to measure performance as management belf@tesuch information is the most

relevant in evaluating the results of certain segseelative to other entities that operate
within these industries.

Information about reportable segments

Performance for the years ended December 34re as follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Mobile phone and Mobile phone Datanet and Total
call center services sales broadband services reportable segments
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
External revenue 126,046 126,435 23,947 27,827 72,15 1,014 152,150 155,276
Investment income 184 268 18 14 2 9 204 291
Finance costs (4,233)  (1,958) (2) 2) Q) - (4,236) (1,960)
Depreciation and amortization(20,950) (20,291) (6) @) (711) (197) (21,667) (20,495)
Material items of expenses (23,011) (15,064) (2,691) (1,119) (30) (111) (25,732) (16,294)
Segment profit (loss) before
income tax expense 39,354 51,185 (3,694) (1,476) 205 (555) 35,865 49,154
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Reportable assets and liabilities as at December 3dre as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Mobile phone and Mobile phone Datanet and Total
call center services sales broadband services reportable segments
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Segment assets 262,117 170,199 7,375 9,892 6,178 670 1, 275,670 181,761
Segment liabilities 222,805 127,207 4,932 4,758 225, 1,303 232,962 133,268

The significant amount of additions to non-currentassets for the years ended December 31, are as

follows:
Unit: Million Baht
Mobile phone and Mobile phone Datanet and Total
call center services sales broadband services reportable segments
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Capital expenditure 117,087 73,816 1 4 3,104 1,684 120,192 75,504

Geographical segments

The Group and the Company manage and operate gallycin Thailand. There are no

material revenues derived from or assets locatéor@ign countries.

Major Customer

No single customer represents a major customeubedae Group and the Company have

large number of customers, who are end users ecaybtisiness and individuals.

25. REVENUE FROM RENDERING OF SERVICES UNDER THE NBTC'S REGULATION

Revenue from rendering of services and equipmenals of the Company for the years

ended December 31, are classified as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Separate
financial statements
2016 2015
Internet License Type 1 -
Other service income 4,950 31,530
Total 4,950 31,531
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26. INVESTMENT INCOME

Investment income for the years ended Decembearglas follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015
Dividend income
Subsidiaries 10, 34 - - - 28,009 36,725
Other — 40 - 20
- 40 28,009 36,745
Interest income
Subsidiaries 34 - - - 1,508 1,520
Associate 34 -- 2 - -
Financial institutions 204 249 23 49
204 251 1,531 1,569
Total 204 291 29,540 38,314

27. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Investment income for the years ended Decembearglas follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015
Bad debt recovery 112 111 34 33
Management income 34 - - 1,542 209
Others 34 252 337 87 267
Total 364 448 1,663 509

28. PROVIDENT FUND

The defined contribution plans comprise providamd established by the Group and
the Company for its employees. Membership to thedfis on a voluntary basis.

Contributions are made monthly by the employeesatas ranging from 3% to 15% of
their basic salaries and by the Group and the Cagnparates ranging from 3% to 7% of
the employees’ basic salaries. The provident fundegistered with the Ministry of

Finance as juristic entities and is managed bgemed Fund Manager.
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29. EXPENSES BY NATURES

The statements of profit or loss for the years dridecember 31, include an analysis of
expenses by function. Significant expenses by eatlisclosed in accordance with the
requirements of various Thai Financial Reportingn8ards are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

Depreciation of buildings and

equipment 11 15,465 10,153 127 289
Depreciation and amortization of

assets under Agreements for

operations 12 - 8,606 - 8,606
Amortization of spectrum licenses 14 5,545 1,200 - -
Amortization of intangible assets 15 658 536 25 41
Doubtful accounts and bad debts

(bad debts recovery) 7 1,538 1,315 (2 -
Marketing expenses 16,012 6,901 22 138
Staff costs 8,182 8,078 772 1,183

30. FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs for the years ended December 3asdmlows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015
Subsidiaries 34 - - 91 57
Associate and Related parties 34 35 5 6 -
Financial institutions 4,201 1,954 521 653
Total 4,236 1,959 618 710

- 65 -



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

31. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense recognized in the statemensadit or loss for the years ended
December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2016 2015 2016 2015
Current tax expense
Current year 6,513 9,666 - -
Adjustment for prior years 28 14 - 1
6,541 9,680 - 1

Deferred tax expense 16
Movements in temporary

differences (1,366) 319 (803) 600
Total income tax expense 5,175 9,999 (803) 601

Income tax expense recognized in the statemensobif or loss and other comprehensive
income for the years ended December 31, are as\sill

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements

2015
Tax
Before (expense) Net of
tax benefit tax
Actuarial losses on employee benefit obligations 37(6 129 (508)
Total (637) 129 (508)

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

2015
Tax
Before (expense) Net of
tax benefit tax
Actuarial gains from employee benefit obligations 41 (3) 11
Total 14 (3) 11
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate for the yearsled December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements

2016 2015
Rate (%) Rate (%)

Profit before income tax expense 35,865 49,154
Income tax using the applicable tax rate 20 7,173 0 2 9,831
Income not subject to tax - (6)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 97 9
Additional capital expenditure deduction

allowed (835) -
Recognition of previously unrecognized

temporary difference (1,281) (1,042)
Adjustment for prior years 28 14
Effect from elimination with subsidiaries @) (32)
Current year losses for which no deferred tax

assets was recognized - 1,087
Written-off deferred tax assets - 138
Total 14 5,175 20 9,999

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements
2016 2015
Rate (%) Rate (%)

Profit before income tax expense 29,159 39,198
Income tax using the applicable tax rate 20 5,832 0 2 7,840
Income not subject to tax (5,602) (7,349)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes a7 58
Recognition of previously unrecognized

temporary difference (1,016) (1,209)
Adjustment for prior years - 1
Current year loss for which no deferred tax

asset was recognized - 1,022
Written-off deferred tax assets - 138
Total 3) (803) 2 601

According to the Royal Decree No. 557 B.E. 2557uesk under the Revenue Code
regarding the corporate income tax rate reductitecttve on November 11, 2014, the
corporate income tax rates were 20% of net profitaiccounting period which begins on
or after January 1, 2015 but not later than Decer@bg2015.

According to the Revenue Code Amendment Act NoB42. 2559 which is effective
from March 5, 2016 onwards, the corporate increases reduced from 30 % to 20% of
net profit for accounting period beginning on ceaflanuary 1, 2016 onwards.

The Group and the Company have applied the taxaofa28©% for calculated income tax
expense and deferred income tax for the years ebdeember 31, 2016 and 2015.
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32. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share folytaes ended December 31, are based on
the profit for the years attributable to ordinatyaseholders of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstgrtiiring the years as follows:

(Million Baht/million shares)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Company (basic) 30,667 39,152 29,962 38,597
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding (basic) 2,973 2,973 2,973 2,973
Earnings per share (basic) (in Baht) 10.31 13.17 10.08 12.98

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share far years ended December 31, are based
on the profit for the years attributable to equitiders of the Company and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstandinggithiayears after adjusting for the effects of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares as follows:

(Million Baht/million shares)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Profit attributable to shareholders of
the Company (basic) 30,667 39,152 29,962 38,597
Profit attributable to shareholders of
the Company (diluted) 30,667 39,152 29,962 38,597
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding (basic) 2,973 2,973 2,973 2,973
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding (diluted) 2,973 2,973 2,973 2,973
Earnings per share (diluted) (in Baht) 10.31 13.17 10.08 12.98
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33.

34.

DIVIDENDS

At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholdéth@® Company held on March 24, 2015,

the shareholders approved the appropriation ofddivl of Baht 12.00 per share.

The Company paid an interim dividend at the rat8alfit 6.04 per share on September 2,
2014, therefore the remaining dividend to be pai@aht 5.96 per share, amounting to
Baht 17,718 million. The dividend was paid to shatders on April 22, 2015.

At the Board of Director's meeting held on August2815, it was approved to declare an
interim dividend of Baht 6.50 per share amountiogBaht 19,324 million. The interim
dividend was paid to shareholders on Septembd)1B,. 2

At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholdéth® Company held on March 29, 2016,

the shareholders approved the appropriation ofdeind of Baht 12.99 per share.

The Company paid an interim dividend at the rat®alfit 6.50 per share on September 1,
2015, therefore the remaining dividend to be paiBaht 6.49 per share, amounting to
Baht 19,295 million. The dividend was paid to shatders on April 22, 2016.

At the Board of Director's meeting held on August2816, it was approved to declare an
interim dividend of Baht 5.79 per share amountiogBaht 17,214 million. The interim
dividend was paid to shareholders on Septembéd)1B,. 2

RELATED PARTIES

Enterprises and individuals that directly, or iedity through one or more intermediaries,
control, or are controlled by, or are under commontrol with the Company, including
holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsika are related parties of the
Company. Individuals owning, directly or indireGthn interest in the voting power of the
Company that gives them significant influence otlee enterprise, key management
personnel, including directors and officers of thempany and close members of the
family of these individuals and companies assodiatgth these individuals also
constitute related parties.

In considering each possible related party relatigm attention is directed to the
substance of the relationship, and not merelyegallform.

During the year, the Group and the Company havereditinto a number of transactions

with related parties, the terms of which are negetl in the ordinary course of business
and according to normal trade conditions. Purchaég@soducts and services are charged
at reasonable prices and those prices are compatabthe market rate with general

trading conditions. In 2015, consulting and manag@nservice fees are charged on a
mutually agreed basis as a percentage of asseite,\Wich fees are calculated based on
activities portion which the Company performs tamier parties in 2016 and effective

since January 1, 2016 onwards.
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Relationships with related parties are as follows:

Name of entities Country of Nature of relationships
incorporation/
nationality
Subsidiaries Thailand Subsidiaries are entitiegrotiad by the Group
Intouch Holdings Public Thailand and Laos Intouch Holdings Public Companyimited
Company Limited and its (“INTOUCH?") is a shareholder who has significant
related parties influence over the Company and has some joint
(“INTOUCH Group”) directors.
SingTel Strategic Investments Singapore SingTel Strategic Investments Pte Li8ingTel”)
Pte Ltd. and its related parties is a shareholder who has significant influence over
(“SingTel Group”) the Company.
Information Highway Co., Ltd. Thailand Associate
Amata Network Co., Ltd. Thailand Joint venture
Other related parties Thailand Other parties haweees joint directors and

directors of related parties.

Significant transactions with related parties fbe tyears ended December 31, are as
follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Service income
Subsidiaries - - 4,593 24,377
INTOUCH Group 31 34 - 9
SingTel Group 402 649 1 150
Other related parties 135 2 - -
Total 568 685 4,594 24,536
Sales of property and other assets
Subsidiaries - - 22 365
Dividend income
Subsidiaries - - 28,009 36,725
Interest income
Subsidiaries - - 1,508 1,520
Associate - 2 - -
Total - 2 1,508 1,520
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Unit: Million Baht
Separate
financial statements

Consolidated
financial statements

2016 2015 2016 2015
Other income
Subsidiaries - - 1,577 310
INTOUCH Group 9 8 - 1
Total 9 8 1,577 311
Rental and other service expenses
Subsidiaries - - 3,732 8,838
INTOUCH Group 519 498 1 20
SingTel Group 283 464 95 74
Associate 176 43 - -
Other related parties 1 - - -
Total 979 1,005 3,828 8,932
Advertising expense
INTOUCH Group 1 22 - 3
Sale promotion expense
Subsidiaries - - 2 15
Commission expense
Subsidiary - - 12 253
Management benefit expenses
Short-term employee benefit 141 199 141 199
Share-based payments 9 10 9 10
Total 150 209 150 209
Purchase of property and other assets
Subsidiaries - - - 10
INTOUCH Group 130 59 - -
Associate 27 - - -
Total 157 59 - 10
Finance costs
Subsidiaries - - 91 57
INTOUCH Group 2 1 - -
Associate 6 3 - -
Other related parties 27 1 6 -
Total 35 5 97 57
Dividend paid
INTOUCH 14,768 14,984 14,768 14,984
SingTel 8,514 8,638 8,514 8,638
Total 23,282 23,622 23,282 23,622
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Balances with related parties are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
As at As at As at As at
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank deposit
Other related parties 113 199 1 -
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables
Subsidiaries - - 49 711
INTOUCH Group 6 4 - -
SingTel Group 19 1 4 -
Other related parties 31 - - -
56 5 53 711

Accrued income
Subsidiaries - - 3 910

INTOUCH Group 3 2 - -
SingTel Group 8 4 - -
Associate 1 - - -
12 6 3 910

Total trade receivables 68 11 56 1,621
Other receivables
- Accrued interest income

Subsidiaries - - 123 508
Total other receivables - - 123 508
Total trade and other receivables

(see Note 7) 68 11 179 2,129
Dividend receivable
Subsidiaries - - 12,093 19,944
Short-term loans to related parties
Subsidiaries - - 39,244 44,244

As at December 31, 2016, the Company has shortitems at call to subsidiaries represent
promissory notes at call, bearing interest at tlezage rate of 2.84 % per annum (December
31, 2015: average rate of 3.67% per annum).
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Movements of short-term loans to related partiedle years ended December 31, are as
follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Separate
financial statements

Consolidated
financial statements

2016 2015 2016 2015
Short-term loans to related parties
As at January 1, - 95 44,244 35,590
Increase - - 25,839 39,157
Decrease - (95) (30,839) (30,503)
As at December 31, - - 39,244 44,244

Unit: Million Baht
Separate
financial statements

Consolidated
financial statements

As at As at As at As at
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Long-term rental deposit
Subsidiary - - - 742
Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Subsidiaries - - 199 195
INTOUCH Group 25 89 - 1
SingTel Group 269 229 20 68
Other related parties - 5 - -
Associate 6 - - -
Total trade payables 300 323 219 264
Other payables
- Other payable
Subsidiaries - - - 273
- - - 273

- Accrued expenses
Subsidiaries - - 111 584

INTOUCH Group 50 91 - -
SingTel Group 22 31 15 16
Associate 17 10 - -
89 132 126 600
Total other payables 89 132 126 873
Total trade and other payables
(see Note 18) 389 455 345 1,137
Financial lease liabilities
Associate 85 72 - -

Short-term loans from
related parties
Subsidiaries

- 6,440 6,490
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As at December 31, 2016, short-term loan from edlgtarties represent promissory notes at
call, bearing interest at the rate of 1.41 % pewuan (December 31, 2015: 1.40% per annum).

Movements of short-term borrowings from relatediearfor the years ended December 31,
are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Short-term borrowings from related parties
As at January 1, - - 6,490 -
Increase 4,000 - 2,523 7,190
Decrease (4,000) - (2,573) (700)
As at December 31(see Note 17) - - 6,440 6,490
Unit; Million Baht
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
As at As at As at As at
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Long-term debentures
INTOUCH Group 37 37 - -
Other related parties 13 13 - -
Total (see Note 17) 50 50 - -

Significant agreements with related parties

The Group and the Company have entered into agrégemath related parties. There are
commitment for receipts and payments accordingtesrunder the terms and conditions
stipulated in the agreements. The significant agesgs with related parties are as
follows:

1) The Group has entered into interconnection an@naltiroaming agreements among
its related parties. The termination and suspensfahe agreement are referred to
the regulations and conditions of the National ¢etemunications Commission.

2) The Group has entered into site share agreememtiscans related parties to provide
site area including related facilities for instiitba of telecommunication equipment.
The counterparty has a right to terminate the agee¢ by giving advance written
notice not less than 60 days.

3) The subsidiaries have received a service of aamiter from Advanced Contact
Center Co., Ltd. (*ACC"), a subsidiary. ACC will gride service and required
information including resolving problem for the tusers of the Group.
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4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

9)

10)

11)

12)

Advanced Contact Center Co., Ltd., a subsidiaryg &atered into a call center
service agreement with Teleinfo Media Plc. (“TMCY,related party. TMC will
arrange the personnel and provide call center tiparto execute each of incoming
call service. The counterparty has a right to teatd the agreement by giving
advance written notice not less than 30 days.

The Company and its related parties have entetedaim agreement with Advanced
Magic Card Co., Ltd. and Advanced Mpay Co., Ltds, subsidiaries, to provide
payment service for goods/service purchased threlggtronic payments and cash
card. The counterparty has a right to terminate atpeeement by giving advance
written notice not less than 30 days.

Advanced Magic Card Co., Ltd. and Advanced Mpay, Cul., its subsidiaries, have
entered into an agreement with Wireless Device §u@p., Ltd., a subsidiary, to
distribute electronic money and cash card. The t@wparty has a right to terminate
the agreement by giving advance written noticeless than 30 days.

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered ant@greement with Wireless
Device Supply Co., Ltd., a subsidiary, to providedcpackaging. The counterparty
has a right to terminate the agreement by givingaade written notice not less than
30 days.

The Company and its subsidiaries have enteredamtoternational roaming service
agreement with the SingTel Group, related parflé® counterparty has a right to
terminate the agreement by giving advance writtaica not less than of 60 days.

The Company and its subsidiaries have enteredaimtagreement with MIMO Tech
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary, of providing aggregatirgue added services on mobile
network or wireless device. The counterparty haglat to terminate the agreement
by giving advance written notice not less than 8¢sd

The Company and its subsidiaries have enteredantagreement with its related
parties to provide or aggregating value added sesvon mobile network or wireless
device. The counterparty has a right to terminhte dgreement by giving advance
written notice not less than 30 days.

Advance Wireless Network Co., Ltd. (“AWN”), has ergd into a satellite
transponder lease agreement with Thaicom Publicg@omLimited, a related party,
AWN agreed to pay service fee on monthly basis @iag to the rate and condition
specified in the agreement. The agreement is ualidl November 19, 2017.

MIMO Tech Co., Ltd., a subsidiary, has entered icwonputer system maintenance
services agreements with I.T. Applications and BessCompany Limited, a related
party. The agreement is valid for one year aneéngwable on an annual basis. The
counterparty has a right to terminate the agreeiegiving advance written notice
not less than 3 months.
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35.

13) Advanced Wireless Network Co., Ltd., a subsididigs entered into fibre optic
system and its site facilities agreement with Infation Highway Co., Ltd. (“IH"),
an associate. IH will provide installation fibretiw transmission and maintenance
services in specific areas. The counterparty héghato terminate the agreement by
giving the counterparty advance written noticelees than 30 days.

14) Advanced Wireless Network Co., Ltd., a subsidi&sas entered into agreement with
TC Broadcasting Company Limited, a related padyieceive a satellite equipment
system and television signal service. The countgrgeas a right to terminate the
agreement by giving the counterparty advance writiaice not less than 30 days.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial risk management policies

Risk management is integral to the whole businéskeo Group and the Company. The
Group and the Company have a system of contrgiaite to create an acceptable balance
between the cost of risks occurring and the coshafhaging the risks. The management
continually monitors the Group’s and the Compamgk management process to ensure
that an appropriate balance between risk and dastazhieved.

Capital management

The Group and the Company aim to manage its cagpitacture to be stronger than
industry peer and commit to be investment gradagat his will allow the Group and the
Company to retain superior financial flexibility oxder to capture future growth prospect.
The Group’s and the Company’s financial flexibilityeans diversified source of capital,
ease of funding, and appropriate cost of capital.

In 3-5 years, telecommunications industry in Thallavill face another phase of technology
change and hence new investment will be required.Group and the Company believe that
they can leverage on their capital structure inftingre and have ability to find the source of
funds through the debt instrument in order to eggherir business.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future movemseantmarket interest rates will affect the
results of the Group’s and the Company’s operatant its cash flows because some of
debt securities and loan interest rates are flgatiierest rate. The Group and the
Company have interest rate risk from its borrowifgmse Note 17). The Group and the
Company mitigate this risk by ensuring that the angj of its debt securities and
borrowings are at fixed interest rates and usesatere financial instruments, principally
interest rate swaps, to manage exposure to fluoshgtn interest rates on specific debt
securities and borrowings.
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Foreign currency risk

The Group and the Company have foreign currencl redating to expense and
borrowings which are denominated in foreign curiencThe Group and the Company
primarily utilise forward contracts, which are moore than 1 year, to hedge such financial
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies talpe long-term borrowings denominated
in foreign currencies. The forward contracts emtento at the end of the reporting period
also relate to borrowings, denominated in foreigmencies, for the subsequent period.

The Group and the Company have foreign currengyinisespect of financial assets and

liabilities denominated as at December 31, ar®kbsis:

Consolidated
financial statements

Unit: Million Baht
Separate
financial statements

Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 4
US dollar (USD) 477 153 157 100
Euro (EUR) 111 3 2 2
Total 588 156 159 102
Trade accounts receivable 7
US dollar (USD) 630 59 13 8
Euro (EUR) 1 1 - 1
Total 631 60 13 9
Interest-bearing liabilities 17
US dollar (USD) (6,038) (9,717) (5,358) (9,717)
Total (6,038) (9,717) (5,358) (9,717)
Trade accounts payable 18
US dollar (USD) (5,450) (3,611) (15) (108)
Euro (EUR) 1) (56) 1) (58)
Yen (JPY) 1) (166) - (5)
Singapore dollar (SGD) (19) - (19) -
Total (5,471) (3,833) (35) (171)
Gross statement of financial

position exposure (10,290) (13,334) (5,221) (9,777)
Swap contracts
- Purchasing Contracts 6,473 8,159 4,511 8,159
- Selling contracts (1,308) - - -
Total swap contracts 5,165 8,159 4,511 8,159
Forward contracts 4,943 8,190 89 147
Net exposure (182) 3,015 (621) (1,471)

Swap and forward contracts are held to hedge otynesk for gross statement of financial
position exposure as at December 31, 2016 and&td o retain future purchases.
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Net swap and forward contracts receivable (payaisl@t December 31, are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2016 2015 2016 2015
Swap contracts:
- Purchasing contracts
Swap contracts receivable 7,289 9,565 5,267 9,565
Swap contracts payable* (6,473) (8,159) (4,511) (8,159)

816 1,406 756 1,406
- Selling contracts
Swap contracts receivable* 1,308 - - -
Swap contracts payable (1,361) - - -
(53) - - -
Total swap contracts receivable 763 1,406 756 61,40
Forward contracts:
Forward contracts receivable 4,994 8,227 91 152
Forward contracts payable* (4,943) (8,190) (89) (147)
Total forward contracts receivable 51 37 2 5
Total swap and forward contracts:
Swap and forward contracts receivable 13,591 17,792 5,358 9,717
Swap and forward contracts payable (12,777) (16,349 (4,600) (8,306)
Total swap and forward contracts
receivable 814 1,443 758 1,411

* The nominal amount of swap and forward contrastshe value of the original contracts which the
Company entered with the commercial banks and brisepaid at the maturity date.

Classification of swap and forward contracts in fihancial statements as at December 31,
are as follows:

Unit: Million Baht

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Current assets
Other current assets 236 648 241 616
Total current assets 236 648 241 616
Non-current assets
Swap and forward contracts receivable 578 795 517 795
Total non-current assets 578 795 517 795
Total 814 1,443 758 1,411
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The nominal amounts and fair values of swap analeal contracts as at December 31, are as
follows:

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statement

Nominal amounts+ Fair values

201¢ 201¢ 201¢ 201t
Swap contrac
- Purchising contract 6,475 8,15¢ 7,174 9,32¢
- Selling contract 1,30¢ - 1,262 -
Total swap contrac 7,781 8,15¢ 8,43¢ 9,32€
Forward contrac 494: 8,19C 5,02¢ 8,28¢
Total 12,724 16,34¢ 13,461 17,61F

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

Nominal amounts= Fair values*

201¢ 201¢ 201¢ 201¢
Swap contrac
- Purchasing contrac 4511 8,15¢ 5,14C 9,32¢
Forward contrac 89 147 91 15z
Total 4,60C 8,30€ 5,231 9,47¢

*  The fair value of swap and forward contractshie fidjusted value of the original contracts whiof t
Company entered with the commercial banks withntlagket price. At the end of the reporting period in
order to reflect the current value of the contracts

** The nominal amount of swap and forward contraistdhe value of the original contracts which the
Company entered with the commercial banks and brisepaid at the maturity date.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resudtifrom the failure of a customer or a
counterparty to settle its financial and contrakctobligations to the Group and the
Company as and when they fall due.

Management has a credit policy in place and thesx to credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performedlboustomers requiring credit over a
certain amount. At the end of the reporting pettuete were no significant concentrations
of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group and the Company monitor its liquiditykrend maintain a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by managemenmmatocd the Group’s and the
Company’s operations and to mitigate the effectuatuations in cash flows.
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities measured at faluer in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2015 areboews: (December 31, 2016: nil)

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements

Carrying amount Fair value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Current assets
Available-for-sale investments 305 - 305 - 305

Financial assets and liabilities not measured &t Value in theconsolidated and separate
statement of financial position as at DecembeiaBd as follows(fair value disclosure)

Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements

Carrying amount Fair value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at December 31, 2016

Swap and forward contracts 12,776 - - 13,461 13,461
Debentures 31,600 - 32,082 - 32,082
As at December 31, 2015

Swap and forward contracts 16,349 - - 17,615 17,615
Debentures 16,600 - 17,958 - 17,958

Unit: Million Baht
Separate financial statements

Carrying amount Fair value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at December 31, 2016
Swap and forward contracts 4,600 - - 5,231 5,231
As at December 31, 2015
Swap and forward contracts 8,306 - - 9,479 9,479
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Fair value hierarchy

The table above analyses recurring fair value nreasents for financial assets. These
fair value measurements are categorised into diftelevels in the fair value hierarchy
based on the inputs to valuation techniques uséd. different levels are defined as
follows.

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active merker identical assets or liabilities that
the Group and the Company can access at the mesenirdate.

Level 2: other inputs than quoted prices includethiw Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirict

Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liigbi

The Group determines Level 2 fair values for avdddor-sale investments using a
discounted cash flow technique, which uses contehatash flows and a market-related
discount rate.

For disclosure purposes, the Group determines L2Vair values for traded debentures
have been determined based on quoted selling pfroes the Thai Bond Market
Association at the close of the businesthaend of the reporting period

For disclosure purposes, the Group and the Comgdatgrmine Level 3 fair values for

fair value of swap and forward contracts were dated using the rates quoted by the
Group’s and the Company’s bankers which were basedharket conditions existing at

the statement of financial position date.

The fair value of accounts receivable and accopaysble - trade and others is taken to
approximate the carrying value.

The fair value of loans to and loans from relatedaken to approximate the carrying
value because most of these financial instrumesus interest at market rates.

The fair value of long-term borrowings is takerafiproximate the carrying value because
most of these financial instruments bear interestarket rate.
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36. COMMITMENTS WITH NON-RELATED PARTIES

Commitments with non-related parties as at Decer@bgare as follows:

Unit: Million
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015
Capital commitments
Unrecognized contractual commitments
Buildings and equipment
Thai Baht 14,927 21,174 1 33
US Dollar 129 385 - -
Yen 50 82 - -
Euro 1 - - -
Singapore Dollar - 3 - -
Service maintenance
Thai Baht 1,880 2,025 31 507
US Dollars 15 23 - 1
Yen - 12 - 7
Purchase orders for goods and supplies
Thai Baht 7,236 5,146 - -
US Dollar 37 124 - -
Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2016 2015 2016 2015

Non-cancellable operating lease
commitments

Within one year 3,101 2,099 124 221
After one year but within five years 2,750 2,339 823 56
After five years 74 6 - -
Total 5,925 4,444 362 277
Other commitments
Forward and swap contra 11,416 16,349 4,600 8,306
Bank guarantee

- Spectrum licenses payable 94,275 21,928 - -

- Others 1,687 1,052 227 259
Total 107,378 39,329 4,827 8,565
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37.

38.

Significant agreements

- The Group has entered into lease and relatetcseagreements for office space, cars,
computers and base station for periods ranging ftgrear to 15 years with options to
renew.

- The Group has entered into a service agreeméhtavcompany, for the Group to
receive the services relating to network statiod atiher general services as stated in
the agreement. The Group shall pay a service fethéoservices at the rate as stated in
the agreement. The services will be run until teated by either party with 90 days
written notice.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Pursuant to the letter dated January 18, 2013R#énenue Department challenged the
Company and Digital Phone Company Limited (“DP@’)subsidiary, to pay surcharge of
Baht 128 million and Baht 6 million, respectivelggarding the withholding tax on
revenue sharing payment after excise tax dedudttyogiving the opinion that the excise
tax is a part of revenue sharing. Therefore, the@amy and DPC will be liable to pay the
shortage of withholding tax amount of excise taxawhcame from the revenue sharing
payment without excise tax deduction. The Comparty@RPC have submitted the appeal
to the Commission of Appeal. At present, these ase pending on the consideration
process of the Commission of Appeal.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS, COMMERCIAL DISPUTES AND LI TIGATIONS
The Company

1) The deduction of excise tax from the revenue spasgtween the Company and TOT
Public Company Limited (“TOT")

On January 22, 2008, TOT submitted a dispute utiterblack case no. 9/2551 to the
Arbitration Institute, the Alternative Dispute Regmn Office, Office of the Judiciary
demanding the Company to pay additional paymenewénue sharing under the Cellular
Mobile Phone Contract in the amount of Baht 31 dfion plus interest at the rate of 1.25
percent per month computing from the default datdanuary 10, 2007 until the full amount
is paid.

This amount is the same as an excise tax that tmep@ny had delivered to the Excise
Department during January 28, 2003 to February2267 and deducted it from revenue
sharing according to the resolution of the Cabueied February 11, 2003. Thus, the
Company has fully complied with the Cabinet’s resioh dated February 11, 2003 and
this practice is the same as other operators inilengbhone or cellular radio
telecommunication industries according to the ngsmh of the Cabinet. Moreover, TOT
had sent letter no. Tor Sor Tor. Bor Yor. /843 dakarch 10, 2003 stating that the
Company has fully complied with the Cabinet’s resioh and the Company’'s burden
remains at the same percentage rate as speciftee tontract and the submission of that
excise tax return shall not affect the terms ofdbwetract.
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On May 20, 2011, the Arbitral Tribunal dismissed tase by giving the reason which can
be summarized that the Company was not in breatieofgreement since the Company
has completely made the payment of the revenuanghand all debt was fully paid.
Therefore, TOT has no right to re-claim for theegédd deficit amount.

On September 22, 2011, TOT submitted the black casel918/2554 to the Central
Administrative Court to revoke the Arbitral Tribuisaaward.

On August 11, 2016, the Central Administrative Gawached its decision to dismiss
such dispute made by TOT to revoke the Arbitrabiinal’s award.

2) Interconnection agreement in accordance with the@oamcement of National
Telecommunication Commission (“NTC”)

According to Telecommunication Business Operatiah B\E. 2544 and the announcement
of National Telecommunication Commission (“NTC”geeding the Use and Interconnect
of Telecommunication Network B.E. 2549, the Complay entered into an interconnection
(“IC”) agreement with other operators approved byONand the effective period of the

agreement is listed below:

Operators Effective period
1) Total Access Communication PCL. November 3@620nwards
2) Truemove Company Limited January 16, 2007 anw
3) Digital Phone Company Limited June 1, 2009 anlwa
4) CAT Telecom Public Company Limited April 7, ZD&nwards
5) Advanced Wireless Network Company Limited Afril2013 onwards
6) dtac TriNet Company Limited July 1, 2013 onegar

7) True Move H Universal Communication Companyitach July 1, 2013 onwards
(Formerly Real Future Company limited)

On August 31, 2007, TOT Public Company Limited (“T®filed a lawsuit against NTC

to the Central Administrative Court to revoke th&sannouncement. On September 15, 2010,
the Central Administrative Court dismissed the cagech TOT filed to revoke the
announcement of NTC regarding the Use and Inteextnmf Telecommunication
Network B.E. 2549. TOT has appealed such dismigsdahe Supreme Administrative
Court. On February 4, 2008, TOT sent a letter te @ompany informing that the
Company should wait for the final judgment of theu@. If the Company undertake the
IC agreements per the NTC announcement beforeiriaejfidgment of the Court, TOT
shall not recognize the Company’s related actiortsthe Company must be responsible
for such actions.

Having considered the said TOT'’s letter, relatedsland the legal counsel’s opinion, the
Company’s management has the opinion that non-gdanga by the Company with the
IC agreements shall be deemed violating the sai€ Miinouncement. Therefore, the
Company has decided to comply with the IC agreesnentine with the current legal

provisions.
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According to the Agreement for operations (“the eggnent”’), the Company has to pay the
higher of stipulated annual minimum payment or plkeecentage of service revenues and
other benefits that the Company should be receimedach year prior to deducting
expenses and taxes to TOT. However, the Companyochasmply with the regulation
while TOT would like to wait for the final judgmerdf the court. As a result, the
Company anticipated entering into a negotiatiothwiOT in relation to a calculation
method of the revenue sharing. The Company cabuliidite revenue sharing from the net
IC revenue which is similar to other operators hie telecommunication industry on a
conservative basis. The revenue sharing amoung feaiml to TOT is subject to the final
judgment of the court in relation to revoke the @mmcement of NTC and a negotiation
between TOT and the Company. The Company will madjeistment in the financial
statement in the period when the issue has beeedgiThe Company’'s management
believes that it will not incur significant expens®re than the revenue sharing amount
which the Company has recorded.

However, after having considered the letter fromTT@e relevant laws and the legal
counsel’s opinion, the management of the Compasyttm opinion that non-compliance
with the above Interconnection Agreement wouldrbeanflict with the announcement of
NTC regarding the Use and Interconnect of Telecomoation Network. Therefore, the

Company decided to comply with the said Agreematitieh are in line with the current

legal provision in force by issuing invoices toleot the interconnection charge from the
contractual parties.

On December 30, 2008, the Company remitted thentesesharing incurred from the
interconnection of the telecommunication networkFebruary 2007 to June 2008 in the
amount of Baht 761 million based on the rate andutation method of the Company to
TOT. Later, the Company and TOT had set up the treggm committee to seek for the
conclusion but it could not be done. TOT required Company to pay revenue sharing
calculated on gross interconnection charges reddiyeghe Company at the rate specified
in the Agreement without deduction of interconnaetcharges which the Company had
to pay to other operators. Thus, on January 261,200T sent a letter demanding the
Company had to pay the revenue sharing on thecotieection charges of the Agreement
for operations year 17- 20" in the amount of Baht 17,803 million plus interasthe rate
of 1.25% per month. But the Company disagreed ant & letter opposing the claim to
TOT and the Company submitted the dispute to thierAdtive Dispute Resolution
Office, the Arbitration Institute ref. black case.rl9/2554 on March 9, 2011 requesting
the Arbitral Tribunal to give an award that TOT has right to claim for such revenue
sharing.

On July 29, 2014, TOT submitted a dispute no. 3b728emanding the Company to pay
additional payment for the revenue sharing on thierconnection charges of the
operation years 21- 22'%in the amount of Baht 9,984 million plus interastl.25% per
month on its outstanding and computing from theadkfdate until the full amount is
paid. In addition, TOT requested this case to béeunhe same consideration with the
black case no. 19/2554 to the Arbitral Tribunal.
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On August 23, 2016, the Company submitted the tispo the Alternative Dispute
Resolution Office, the Arbitration Institute, undése black case no. 83/2559 requesting
the Arbitral Tribunal to give an award on the grduhat TOT had no right to claim for
such revenue sharing on the interconnection charfjise operation years 93 25" in

the amount of Baht 8,368 million plus interest @5% per month on its outstanding
amount for each year and the Company requestedctss to be under the same
consideration with the black case no. 55/2557. &hily, the dispute has been considered
by the Arbitration process.

3) Obligations of the bank guarantees in connectiain Wie Agreement for operations
(“the Agreement”)

According to the Agreement, the Company has theeslub deliver the bank guarantees
to TOT Public Company Limited (“TOT”) to secure thmyment of the minimum
revenue sharing for each operation year and sbediver the bank guarantee of the past
operation.

TOT did not return the bank guarantees which haeairsd the payment of the minimum
revenue sharing for the operation yeaf 121 for a total value of Baht 7,007 million by
claiming that the Company had not completely paglrevenue sharing due to the deduction
of the revenue sharing for the excise tax and #uiction of the Interconnection Charges.
Currently, the dispute has been considered by thigrétion process.

On May 11, 2011 and October 5, 2012, the Compatyngted the disputes to the

Alternative Dispute Resolution Office, the Arbitiat Institute, under the black case
no. 40/2554 and 119/2555 requesting the Arbitrddufal to award an order to TOT to return
the bank guarantees to the Company because thea@grhpd completely paid the revenue
sharing for each operation year and had correcthigptied with the law and the relating

Agreements in all respects.

On February 10, 2014, the Arbitral Tribunal gave #rbitration award to order TOT to
return the bank guarantees for the operation y&&s 21 to the Company. On May 16, 2014,
TOT submitted the black case no. 660/2557 to th@r@eAdministrative Court to revoke
the Arbitral Tribunal’s award.

On May 19, 2014, the Company submitted the blade q@o. 666/2557 to the Central
Administrative Court requesting TOT to return thenk guarantees for the 17 215
operation year to the Company according to thetratton award and pay the bank
guarantees fee of Baht 6.65 million which had bpawl by the Company to the banks
and plus interest at 7.5% per annum computing fiteendate that Company paid to the
banks. Currently, this black case is in the Céitdministrative Court procedure.
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4) 900 MHz subscribers migration to 3G 2100 MHz

On September 25, 2014, TOT Public Company LimiteltDT”) submitted a dispute
under the black case no. 80/2557 to the Arbitralmstitute demanding the Company to
pay compensation from the 900 MHz subscribers pgitth 3G 2100 MHz provided by its
subsidiary in the amount of Baht 9,126 million piaserest at 7.5% per annum from
September 25, 2014 until the full amount is paid.

On March 29, 2016, TOT submitted the revision teacthe compensation amount from
May 2013 to September 2015, the ending of the Ages for operations for the amount
of Baht 32,813 million plus VAT and interest at 3% per month from June 2013 until
the full amount is paid.

Currently, the case is in the Arbitration proceBse Company’s management believes
that the Company has correctly and fully compliethvihe related conditions of the

Agreement in all respects then the outcome of thputle should be settled favourably
and has no considerable impact on the financigmsiants of the Company.

5) The claim for additional revenue from th& &nd 7 Amendments to the Agreement
for operations (“the Agreement”)

On September 30, 2015, the Company submitted #paith black case no. 78/2558 to the
Arbitration Institute, the Alternative Dispute Ra#won Office, Court of Justice to decide
regarding the B Amendment dated May 15, 2001 and tHeé Amendment dated
September 20, 2002 to the Agreement for operationsonduct business of Cellular
Mobile Telephone that the amendments bind the Campad TOT Public Company
Limited (“TOT”) to comply with the amendments untile expiration of the Agreement for
operations and the Company has no obligation tdqrathe additional revenue according to
the letter claimed by TOT to the Company on Sepeen@d, 2015 regarding to request the
payment of additional revenue in the amount of B&y®36 million which TOT has claimed
that the & and 7 Amendments were material which caused TOT to veckiwer revenue
than the rate as specified in the Agreement foradjmas.

Currently, the dispute has been considered by thdrators which the Company’s
management believes that tHe@hd " Amendments to the Agreement for operations are
binding and effective until the expiration of thgréement for operations on September 30,
2015 because the Company has fully complied wiltbadcerned Agreements. Moreover,
the Council of State opined on this matter that dheendments to the Agreement for
operations between TOT and the Company, case rd2280 that “...the amendment
process of the Agreement for operations which & alkministrative contract can be
separated from such amendment attached heretantbedments have still been in effect
as long as it is not revoked or terminated by tioregtherwise...”. Therefore, the outcome
of the said dispute should be settled favourably lams no considerable impact on the
financial statements of the Company.
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Later, on November 30, 2015, TOT submitted the utisgplack case no. 122/2558 to the
Arbitration Institute, the Alternative Dispute Ré&sgmon Office, Court of Justice to
decrease the amount of the revenue claimed by B@aht 62,774 million according to
the percentage adjustability of revenue sharinghupe Agreement for operations. This
case is the same as the dispute black case n®583/2

6) Space rental fee for tower and equipment for serwiader the Agreement for
operations (“the Agreement”)

On September 30, 2015, TOT Public Company LimitddD{”) submitted the dispute
black case no. 76/2558 to the Arbitration Instifutee Alternative Dispute Resolution
Office Court of Justice to decide regarding the @any rents 11,883 base stations,
which used for the installation of towers and telamunication equipment to provide
telecommunication services (Cellular Mobile TelepddService), under the Agreement
for operations for additional 2 years from the eapon of the Agreement for operations.
In case that the Company cannot perform such retital Company shall pay the said
rental and all expenses during additional 2 yearhe amount of Baht 1,911 million or
place the money to the court.

Currently, the dispute has been considered by thédrators which the Company’s
management believes that the Company has no abhiget pay for the space rental fee
for tower and equipment related after the expiratod the Agreement for operations
because the Company has rightfully conducted eweiytin accordance with the
Agreement for operations. Therefore, the outcomethef dispute should be settled
favourably and has no considerable impact on thenfiial statements of the Company.

7) The claim for installation and connection of telec@quipment within 900 MHz
frequency band on the Base Site which Digital Ph&@w, Ltd. (“DPC”) has
transferred the title to CAT Telecom Plc. (“CAT ulgect to the Agreement for
operations regarding Cellular Telecommunicationvieerbetween CAT and DPC.

On April 29, 2016, CAT filed a lawsuit against Adwzd Info Services Public Company
Limited (“the Company”) to the Central Administnai Court as the black case
no.613/2559 for the removal of installed and cotewdelecom equipment used in
cellular telecommunication services within 900 Midzquency band or other frequencies
or other telecom equipment of the Company instailed5 base sites which DPC has
transferred to CAT subject to the Agreement forrapens without approval from CAT.
Therefore, CAT demanded the Company to compeneatihé usage of assets owned by
CAT during January 2013 to April 2016 in the amowhtBaht 125.52 million plus
interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum from theditlate until the compensation is paid
in full and to pay for damages from the filing datehe amount of Baht 2.83 million per
month plus interest at the rate of 7.5% per anntitheoclaimed amount in each month to
CAT until the removal of telecom equipment is coeted.
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Currently, this case has been considered by the&@e&udministrative Court process. The
Company’s management believes that the Companycbasctly complied with the
related conditions of the agreement in all respdws the outcome of this case should
not be considerable impact on the financial statésnef the Company.

Digital Phone Company Limited (“DPC”)

1) The deduction of excise tax from the revenue spabetween DPC and CAT
Telecom Public Company Limited (“CAT”)

On January 9, 2008, CAT Telecom Public Company tachi(“CAT”) submitted a
dispute under the black case no. 3/2551 to thetratlmn Institute, the Alternative
Dispute Resolution Office, Court of Justice demagdDPC, a subsidiary, to pay
additional payment of revenue sharing under theit&ligPersonal Communication
Network Contract in the amount of Baht 2,449 milliplus penalty at the rate of 1.25%
per month of the unpaid amount of each year comgutiom the default date until the
full payment is made which total penalty calculatgdto December 2007 is Baht 1,500
million, totalling Baht 3,949 million.

Later, on October 1, 2008, CAT submitted the pmtitio adjust the amount claimed to
Baht 3,410 million which calculated from the outstang revenue sharing up to January
2008 including penalty in amount of Baht 790 milliand value added tax in amount of
Baht 171 million.

This amount is the same as an excise tax that ReGl&livered to the Excise Department
during September 16, 2003 to September 15, 200taddcted it from revenue sharing
according to the resolution of the Cabinet dateordray 11, 2003 and DPC has correctly
complied with the Cabinet’s resolution dated Februdl, 2003 and this practice is the
same as other operators in mobile phone or celtaldio telecommunication industries.
Moreover, CAT has sent a letter No. CAT 603 (Kor.Y@39 notifying DPC to comply
with such Cabinet’s resolution.

On March 1, 2011, the Arbitral Tribunal dismisséé tase by giving the reason which
can be summarized that DPC was not in breach ofAtpeement since DPC has
completely made the payment of the revenue shaaimd) all debt was paid in full.

Therefore, CAT has no right to re-claim for theegid deficit amount, including the
penalty and the value added tax.

On June 3, 2011, CAT submitted the black case r&h9/P554 to the Central
Administrative Court to revoke the Arbitral Tribuisaaward.

On July 28, 2015, the Central Administrative Caedched its decision to dismiss such
dispute made by CAT to revoke the Arbitral Tribusa@ward.

On August 25, 2015, CAT appealed such dismisghkt&upreme Administrative Court under
black case no. Or 1070/2558. Currently, this ces® lbeen considered by the Supreme
Administrative Court.
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2) The deduction of access charge from revenue shé@tgeen DPC and Telecom
Public Company Limited (“CAT")

Pursuant to the resolution of the meeting on Jandd; 2004 between TOT Public
Company Limited (“TOT”), CAT Telecom Public Compahymited (“CAT”), Digital
Phone Company Limited (“DPC”), a subsidiary, andéefMove Company Limited (“True
Move”) by the Minister of the Information and Commications Technology Ministry,
the Chairman, that TOT consented to reduce actesge of mobile phone from revenue
sharing which TOT received from CAT in the amouhBaht 22 /number/month to DPC
and True Move starting from thé"Goperation year as Total Access Communication
Public Company Limited (“DTAC”) had received fronOT.

On October 12, 2006, TOT sent a letter to CAT #@T could not reduce access charge
of mobile phone to DPC and True Move and demand @Apay the access charge that
DPC and True Move have deducted as a discountoesaaharge plus legal interest rate
computing from the default date until the fully pagnt is made.

On July 29, 2008, CAT submitted a dispute undeckbtase no. 68/2551 to the Arbitration
Institute, the Alternative Dispute Resolution Odfi©ffice of the Judiciary demanding DPC
to pay access charge of mobile phone that DPC [ealicted for Baht 154 million
(additional consideration of thé"Z10" operation year) plus value added tax and intextest
the rate 1.25 percent per month of the above pahe@mount starting from the default date
of each year since th& 710" operation year until the full payment is made.

On October 15, 2009, CAT submitted a dispute urdack case no. 96/2552 to the
Arbitration Institute, the Alternative Dispute Réson Office, Court of Justice
demanding DPC to pay access charge of mobile pthatéPC had deducted for Baht 22
million (additional consideration of the ®Joperation year) including the penalty at the
rate of 1.25 percent per month which calculatedau@ctober 15, 2009, total amount of
claim is Baht 26 million.

On March 23, 2012, the Arbitral Tribunal dismissbd said two disputes by giving the
reason which can be summarized that CAT has notpgéd the discount Baht
22/number/month to TOT. Moreover, CAT cannot prdtiat DPC has breached the
Agreement and has made the payment of revenuenghindorrectly. Therefore, CAT has
no right to re-claim for the alleged deficit amauimcluding the penalty and the value
added tax.

On June 25, 2012, CAT submitted the black case 11.6/2555 to the Central
Administrative Court to revoke the Arbitral Tribuisaaward, and on September 16, 2014,
the Central Administrative Court issued the disatissder of this case. On October 15, 2014,
CAT appealed such dismissal to the Supreme Admaiige Court. Currently, this case
has been considered by the Supreme AdministratbwetC
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3) Claim for the access charge payment and the deductiaccess charge from revenue
sharing between DPC, CAT Telecom Public Companyiteidn(“CAT” ) and TOT
Public Company Limited (“TOT")

On May 9, 2011, TOT Public Company Limited (“TOTSubmitted the black case no.
1099/2554 to the Central Administrative Court agai@AT Telecom Public Company
Limited (“CAT") as the defendant no. 1 and Digi@hone Company Limited (“DPC”)
as the defendant no. 2 demanding CAT and DPC tahgmapccess charge amounting to
Baht 2,436 million plus value added tax and intecadculated up to May 9, 2011, total
amount of claim is Baht 2,954 million plus interesttil the full payment is made as
follows:

1) Part of DPC calculating on the amount of the mopiiene number which DPC
had rendered the service at the rate of Baht 2@tldetymonth, in the amount of
Baht 432 million.

2) Part of CAT calculating on a half of the revenuearsig which CAT had
received from DPC, in the amount of Baht 2,331 iomll

3) The discount of access charge at the rate of Bamughber/month that DPC
deducted from the revenue sharing, in the amourgabit 191 million. Part of
this demand is the same amount as CAT has claimeording to the dispute
under black case no. 68/2551 mentioned above lftgreht in terms of the
calculation period and interest.

Later, on July 31, 2014, TOT submitted a petitionrevision to adjust the access charge
amounting to Baht 5,454 million calculated up tpt®eber 16, 2013 which is the date of
the Agreement for operation period ended plus whagd tax and interest calculated up
to July 10, 2014, plus interest calculated frony 2ull, 2014 until full payment is made as
follows.

1) Part of DPC calculating on the amount of the mopiiene number which DPC
had rendered the service at the rate of Baht 2@tldedymonth, in the amount of
Baht 1,289 million.

2) Part of CAT calculating on a half of the revenuarsig which CAT had
received from DPC, in the amount of Baht 3,944 iomill

3) The discount of access charge at the rate of Bammughber/month that DPC
deducted from the revenue sharing, in the amouBiabt 221 million.

Currently, this case has been considered by thetr&eAdministrative Court. The
Company’s management believes that the outcomieitase shall be in favour of DPC
and have no material impact on the consolidateahtiral statements of the Group since
DPC has correctly complied with the law and thatie Agreements in all respects.
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4) To deliver and transfer ownership of towers andiggent of power supply between
DPC and CAT Telecom Public Company Limited (“CAT")

On February 3, 2009, CAT Telecom Public Company itach (“CAT”) submitted a
dispute under the black case no. 8/2552 to the#dteve Dispute Resolution Office, the
Arbitration Institute, demanding DPC, a subsididoydeliver and transfer ownership of
3,343 towers including 2,653 equipment of power pdppunder the Digital PCN
(“Personal Communication Network Agreement”). bse of incomplete delivery, DPC
must reimburse Baht 2,230 million to CAT. DPC ddess that all disputed assets, towers
and the equipment of power supply are not the ptpps stipulated in the Agreement.

On July 18, 2012, the Arbitral Tribunal gave thbi@mation award to dismiss the disputes
under the reason that the request by CAT to dertfamdelivery of the assets from DPC
was the premature exercise of legal claim undecoméract.

On October 25, 2012, CAT submitted the black case 2v57/2555 to the Central
Administrative Court to revoke the Arbitral Tribdisaaward. Currently, this case has
been considered by the Central Administrative Cprotess.

5) The reduction of roaming fee between DPC and CATecen Public Company
Limited (“CAT")

On July 1, 2006, CAT Telecom Public Company Limi{6dAT") allowed Digital Phone
Company Limited (“DPC”), a subsidiary, to reducemong fee per minute from Baht
2.10 to Baht 1.10 to be in line with the decreatemobile phone service fee. The
approval has been renewed for three-month perigdraketimes until March 31, 2007.
After that, CAT did not notify DPC of any changestibon March 24, 2008, CAT had
sent a letter to notify DPC to charge roaming fe®aht 2.10 per minute starting from
April 1, 2007. On May 8, 2008, DPC sent a requestet to CAT to reconsider the
roaming fee adjustment. The reason for such requwest based on the market
environment where the prevailing mobile phone servtharge to consumers in the
market was significantly lower than the specifiedming fee. Such high roaming fee is
therefore unreasonable for DPC to provide the rogrservice to any operators. In the
letter, DPC informed CAT that during the period wWh@AT is reconsidering the request,
DPC will charge roaming fee at Baht 1.10 per minateording to the previous agreed
terms and conditions. On March 31, 2009, CAT appdoRPC to charge roaming fee at
Baht 1.10 per minute during January 1, 2009 - M&th2009. Moreover, DPC entered
into the national roaming agreement with the Comggarcharge roaming fee at Baht 1.10
per minute approved by National Telecommunicatiam@ission (“NTC”) on June 16,
2009.
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On July 15, 2010, CAT submitted a dispute underckblaase no. 62/2553 to the
Alternative Dispute Resolution Office, the Arbiimt Institute, demanding DPC to pay
additional payment of revenue sharing of"1012" operation year that DPC reduced
roaming fee per minute from Baht 2.10 to Baht dai€ing April 1, 2007 - December 31,

2008 in amount of Baht 1,636 million plus penalynputing up to March 2010 of Baht

364 million, totalling Baht 2,000 million and pethaht the rate of 1.25 percent per month
from April 2010 until the full amount is paid byleding that CAT approved the said
roaming fee reduction up to March 31, 2007 only.

On September 12, 2011, CAT submitted a disput@ecAliternative Dispute Resolution
Office, the Arbitration Institute; black case no9/854 demanding DPC to make
additional payment of revenue sharing of' heration year which DPC reduced roaming
fee from Baht 2.10 per minute to Baht 1.10 per rn@nduring April 1, 2009 - June 15,
2009 in the amount of Baht 113 million plus penaityhe rate of 1.25% per month from
April 1, 2009 until the full amount is paid.

Currently, the dispute has been considered by titration process. The Company’s
management believes that the outcome of this disghall have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the GroupesDEC has correctly complied with the
law and the relating Agreements in all respects.

6) The damage arisen from uncollectible internatiaradll service charges between DPC
and CAT Telecom Public Company Limited (“CAT”)

On April 8, 2011, CAT Telecom Public Company Linait€'CAT”) submitted a dispute

under black case no. 32/2554 to the Arbitrationtitine, the Alternative Dispute

Resolution Office, Office of the Judiciary demarglibPC to pay Baht 33 million

including interest at the rate of 15% per annunthef claimed amount, total amount of
claim Baht 35 million by alleging that DPC has coitted a breach of the Digital PCN
(Personal Communication Network) Service Agreentareg to subscriber fraud on the
Digital PCN Service Agreement between DPC and siiess for 1,209 numbers during
1997 - 2003 causing damages to CAT where CAT wasblerto collect the international
call service charges occurred from the use of suchbers.

On May 28, 2013, the Arbitral Tribunal reacheddexision to dismiss such dispute by
stating that it is not about breach of the agred¢rbahwhether there has been a wrongful
act. Therefore, the dispute is not within the dicison of the Arbitral Tribunal.

On September 6, 2013, CAT submitted the black cesel767/2556 to the Central
Administrative Court to revoke the Arbitral Tribdisaaward. Currently, this case has
been considered by the Central Administrative Cptotess.
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7) Revenue sharing on interconnection charge betwde@ &nd CAT Telecom Public
Company Limited (“CAT")

On August 24, 2012, CAT submitted a dispute undackcase no. 110/2555 to the
Alternative Dispute Resolution Office, The Arbiiat Institute, demanding DPC to pay
additional payment of revenue sharing of th& 104" operation year amounting to Baht
183 million and penalty at the rate of 1.25 perceat month of the above principal
amount starting from the default date of each yesit the full amount is paid.

On April 1, 2014, CAT submitted a dispute undercklacase no. 26/2557 to the
Alternative Dispute Resolution Office, The Arbiimat Institute, demanding DPC to pay
additional payment of revenue sharing of"1@peration year amounting to Baht 141
million and penalty at the rate of 1.25 percent penth of the above principal amount
starting from the default date of each year utid tull payment is made. Such amount
represents the revenue sharing which CAT calculatedjross interconnection charge
received by DPC from other operators at the peaggentate specified in the Agreement
without deduction of interconnection charge whidhMhas to pay to other operators.

Currently, the dispute has been considered by thération procedures. The Company’s
management believes that the outcome of this disglall be settled favourably and has
no material impact on the consolidated financiateshents of the Company since DPC
has correctly and fully complied with the law aheé trelated conditions of the Agreement
in all respects.

8) Obligations of the bank guarantees in connectidh thie Agreements for Operations

According to the Agreement, Digital Phone Compainyited (“DPC”) has the duties to
deliver the bank guarantees to CAT Telecom Pubtim@any Limited (“CAT”) to secure
the payment of the minimum revenue sharing for egmtration year and shall recover
the bank guarantee of the previous operating year.

CAT did not return the bank guarantees which haeened the payment of the minimum
revenue sharing for the operation yeaf 104" for a total value of Baht 2,606 million by

claiming that DPC had not completely paid the resesharing due to the deduction of
the revenue sharing for the Excise Tax and the cexfuof the Interconnection Charges,
the discount of Access Charges and the reductidheofate of roaming charge where the
disputes of which have been pending the consiaerati the Arbitral Tribunal.

On October 8, 2012, DPC submitted a dispute toAlernative Dispute Resolution
Office, the Arbitration Institute, black case n@012555 requesting the Arbitral Tribunal
to award an order to CAT to return the bank guaesitto DPC because DPC has
completely paid the revenue sharing for each operatear and has correctly complied
with the law and the relating Agreements in alpexgs.

On May 28, 2015, the Arbitral Tribunal reacheddésision to award an order to CAT to
return the bank guarantees and its bank fees to. D&€r, on September 15, 2015, CAT
has submitted the black case no. 1671/2558 to émer&l Administrative Court to revoke
the Arbitral Tribunal’'s award. Currently, this casas been considered by the Central
Administrative Court.
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9) The claim for the usage/revenue arising from theeafdelecommunication equipment
and telecommunication network during the tempocaistomer protection period after
the Concession ended

On May 20, 2015, CAT Telecom Public Company Limi(6dAT") filed a lawsuit against
the National Broadcasting and Telecommunication @itee Office (“NBTC Office”),
National Telecommunication Committee (“NTC”), Nai# Broadcasting and
Telecommunication Committee (“NBTC”), Truemove Canp Limited (“True Move”), and
Digital Phone Company Limited (“DPC”) to the Cehtredministrative Court black case
n0.918/2558 to pay for the fees and revenue frenufage of telecommunication equipment
and telecommunication network of CAT during the penary customer protection period,
subject to the announcement of NBTC regarding tmporary Customer Protection Plan
Following the Expiration of the Agreement for opi&nas or Telecommunication Service
Agreement, calculated from September 16, 2013 pdeSwer 15, 2014. The total amounts
are as follows:

1) NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amount of Baht 247 million including
interest at the rate of 7.5 per annum.

2) True Move, NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amouwft Baht 18,025
million including interest at the rate of 7.5 panam.

3) DPC, NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amount of Ba)083 million
including interest in the rate of 7.5 per annum.

On September 11, 2015, CAT filed a lawsuit to thent€al Administrative Court black
case no. 1651/2558 claimed for the usage fees awmdnue from the usage of
telecommunication equipment and telecommunicatietwork of CAT from September
16, 2014 to July 17, 2015, total amounts are dgvist

1) NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amount of Baht Bl5million including
interest at the rate of 7.5 per annum.

2) True Move, NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amowhtBaht 4,991 million
including interest at the rate of 7.5 per annum.

3) DPC, NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amount of Bah635 million
including interest in the rate of 7.5 per annum.
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On May 27, 2016, CAT filed a lawsuit to the Centhalministrative Court black case no.
741/2559 claimed for the usage fees and revenue fh@ usage of telecommunication
equipment and telecommunication network of CAT fraofy 18, 2015 to November 25,
2015, total amounts are as follows:

1) NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amount of Baht 2/8million including
interest at the rate of 7.5 per annum.

2) True Move, NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amowhtBaht 2,184 million
including interest at the rate of 7.5 per annum.

3) DPC, NBTC Office, NTC and NBTC in the amount of Bas/3 million
including interest in the rate of 7.5 per annum.

Currently, the dispute has been considered by #mr&l Administrative Court which the

management of the Company believes that DPC hasbhgation to pay for the usage

fees and revenue from the usage of telecommunicatiaipment and telecommunication
network as claimed by CAT due to DPC has compliadaccordance with the

announcement of NBTC. Therefore, the outcome ofsiid dispute should be settled
favourably and has no considerable impact on tinsaaated financial statements of the
Group.

10)The claim to the Central Administrative Court favocation of the NTC order
regarding to revenue incurred from the temporanyise for customer protection
period after the Concession end.

On November 16, 2015, Digital Phone Company Lim{{&PC"), filed a lawsuit against
the National Broadcasting and Telecommunication @dtee (“NBTC”) to the Central
Administrative Court under case no. 1997/2558 tmke NTC resolution which office of
the NBTC has demanded DPC to deliver revenue atedgnperiod starting from
September 16, 2013 to July 17, 2014 in the amouBabt 628 million.

In the same case, on September 16, 2016, NBTC lend\ational Broadcasting and
Telecommunication Committee office (“NBTC officefjed a complaint to the Central
Administrative Court as the Black Case No. 1441%2&f%sjuesting DPC to submit the revenue
sharing during remedy period, from September 16320 July 17, 2014 in the amount of Baht
680 million (including interest up to submittedelély Baht 52 million) plus interest at the rate
of 7.5% per annum of the claim amount from the niext of the submit date until DPC deliver
all revenue sharing in full.

The Company's management considered that DPC hampliead with NBTC
announcement regarding the Temporary Customer @imte Plan Following the
Expiration of the Agreement for operations or Telamunication Service Agreement
2012, and the Company has obliged to submit themew after deducting any expenses to
NBTC but DPC has the expenses more than the revemuered from the service.
Therefore, DPC has no revenue remaining in ordsubonit to NBTC as stipulated in the
announcement.

Presently the said case is in the process of tner&@eé\dministrative Court.
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11)The claim for providing of telecom equipment and telecommunication networks
under the Agreement for operations regarding elliélecommunication services
(“the Agreement”) between CAT Telecom Public Compdmmited (“CAT”) and
Digital Phone Company Limited (“DPC”) to other optars to use.

On June 30, 2016, CAT submitted a dispute undek ldase no. 57/2559 to the Alternative
Dispute Resolution Office, The Arbitration Instéutdemanding DPC to remove telecom
equipment and the telecommunication networks useckliular telecommunication services
under 2100 MHz and the other telecom equipment dvisye Advanced Wireless Network

Company Limited (“AWN”) and under 900 MHz owned Bylvanced Info Service Public

Company Limited (“the Company”) which is installéd 97 base stations subject to the
Agreement operated by DPC without the approval fGAT.

In case that DPC does not agree to remove suchitdspassets for whatsoever reasons,
CAT shall demand DPC to pay in the amount of Ba84 4nillion per month plus interest
at the rate of 7.5% per annum from the next dathefsubmit date of such dispute until
the completion date of such removal of telecom guapeint and to pay for damages for
the consent for AWN and the Company to use itsudesgpassets which owned by CAT in
97 base stations during January 2013 until Juné 201he total of Baht 175.19 million
plus interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum ofdléned amount and also prohibited
DPC to provide such disputed assets to other apenathout written consent from CAT.

Currently, the dispute has been considered by thHeernative arbitration process.
The Company's management believes that DPC hascttprand fully complied with the
related conditions of such Agreement in all resptetn the outcome of the said dispute should
not be considerable impact on the consolidatedidinbstatements of the Group.

AIN Globalcomm Company Limited (“AIN”)

The international direct dialling service by usitige symbol “+” between AIN and
CAT Telecom Public Company Limited (“CAT")

On June 7, 2008, CAT Telecom Public Company LIm{t€RAT”) submitted the black case
no. 1245/2551 to the Civil Court against Advancefi IService Public Company Limited
(“the Company”) as the defendant no. 1 and AIN @lobimm Company Limited, a
subsidiary, as the defendant no. 2 requesting thmp@ny and the subsidiary to pay
compensation with interest rate at 7.5% per annomdamage up to the date of case
submission equalling to Baht 130 million. The reasotraffic changing of the international
direct dialling service by the Company and the slidgry during March 1-27, 2007 through
the Company’s subscriber by using the symbol “#lliig from no. 005 of the subsidiary,
instead of no. 001 of CAT without the prior notiion to subscriber. On September 4, 2008,
CAT submitted a petition revision to adjust compdios for Baht 583 million (including
interest) because CAT was damaged consecutivalyMantch 7, 2008.
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On November 19, 2008, CAT submitted the requestiferorder of provisional remedial

measure before delivery of judgment to cease thagaoy and the subsidiary to transfer
the traffic 001 or symbol “+” of CAT to traffic 006f the subsidiary. On February 26,
2009, the Civil Court dismissed the CAT’s request an March 20, 2009, CAT appealed
the dismissal. On August 16, 2012, the Court of @égdpssued an order confirming the
dismissal order of the Civil Court and CAT subndttihe petition to the Supreme Court
on October 19, 2012. On February 3, 2015, the $upi@ourt issued an order confirming
the dismissal order of the Appeal Court.

On December 17, 2009, the Civil Court dismissedcthge as the facts cannot be proved
that CAT has either an exclusive right to use ymal®l “+” or the right to prohibit the
Company and AIN to use the symbol “+” and it canasb been proved that the changing
of the connection setting of the international clir@ialing service from using the symbol
“+” for the code 001 of CAT to “+” for the code 0@5 AIN has caused the subscribers
who use international direct dialing service toides that they are using the code 001 of
CAT, therefore, the acts of the Company have noiiged any right of CAT and also of
AIN which CAT alleged to jointly commit the wrondfact against the Company and
have not infringed the right of CAT as well. CATshappealed to the Court of Appeal on
March 10, 2010. Subsequently, on June 27, 2013Cthat of Appeal issued an order
confirming the dismissal order of the Civil Coust BAT has submitted the petition to the
Supreme Court on September 16, 2013.

On May 24, 2016, the Supreme Court issued an auieiirming the dismissal order of
the Appeal Court. The Supreme Court’'s judgment weesd by the Civil Court on
September 13, 2016.

Advanced Wireless Network Company Limited (“AWN?”)

The claim for installation and connection of 2106iMfrequency band telecom equipment of
AWN on the Base Site which Digital Phone Co., I[t®PC”) already transferred the title to
CAT Telecom Plc. (“CAT”) subject to the Agreememtr fOperations regarding Cellular
Telecommunication Service between CAT and DPC @tpeement”).

-08 -



ADVANCED INFO SERVICE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

39.

40.

On June 30, 2016, CAT filed a lawsuit to the Cdm@ministrative Court as the black
case N0.1039/2559 against Advanced Wireless Net@orkpany Limited (“AWN”) for
the removal of such installed and connected telecyuipment used in cellular
telecommunication services within 2100 MHz frequemand or other frequencies or
other telecom equipment of AWN installed in 67 bsisgions which DPC has transferred
to CAT subject to the Agreement for Operations withthe approval from CAT.
Therefore, CAT demanded AWN to pay the damageshi®musage of such assets owned
by CAT during January 2013 until June 2016 in tmeoant of Baht 57.53 million
including interest at the rate of 7.5% per annumamfrthe filing date until the
compensation is paid in full and to pay for damafges the filing date in the amount of
Baht 2 million per month plus interest at the rafe7.5% per annum of the claimed
amount regarding damages in each month to CAT th&itemoval of telecom equipment
is completed and also prohibited AWN to install aanect its telecom equipment used
in cellular telecommunication services in 2100 Mirequency band or other frequencies
or other telecom equipment of AWN on base sitesenlMoy CAT under the Agreement
between CAT and DPC without written consent fromTCA

Currently, the dispute has been considered by #mrél Administrative Court process.
The Company’s management believes that AWN hagcityrand fully complied with the
related conditions of the Agreement in all respéos the outcome of the said case should
not be considerable impact on the consolidatednfired statements of the Group.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Dividends

At the Board of Directors’ meeting held on Febru&y 2017, the Board passed a
resolution proposing to the Annual General Shaadrsl Meeting the payment of
dividends for the year 2016, at the rate of Bah08@er share, Baht 5.79 each of which
was paid as an interim dividend on September 162Uhe proposed dividends shall be
approved by the shareholders.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements have been approvedssoieiby the Board of Directors on
February 3, 2017.
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